
 

 
 

Notice of meeting of  
 

Scrutiny Management Committee 
 
To: Councillors Galvin (Chair), Merrett (Vice-Chair), Orrell, 

Firth, Waudby, Simpson-Laing, Alexander and Taylor 
 

Date: Monday, 28 June 2010 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Declarations of Interest   
 

At this point in the meeting, Members will be invited to declare any 
personal or prejudicial interests they may have in the business on 
the agenda. 
 

2. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 15 March 
2010. 
 

3. Public Participation   
 

At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 
registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so. The deadline for 
registering is 5:00 pm on Friday 25 June 2010. 
 

4. Traffic Congestion Ad Hoc Scrutiny Committee - Revised Final 
Report  (Pages 5 - 108) 
 

This report presents the revised final report of the Traffic 
Congestion Ad Hoc Scrutiny Committee regarding their review on 
Traffic Congestion in York.  Councillor Merrett, Chair of the 
Committee, will be in attendance to present the report. 



 
 

5. Annual Scrutiny Report 2009-10  (Pages 109 - 134) 
 

This report presents the annual scrutiny report from Scrutiny 
Services for the period May 2009 to May 2010. 
 

6. Any other business which the Chair decides is urgent under 
the Local Government Act 1972. 

  
 
Democracy Officer: 
Name:  Jayne Carr 
Contact Details: 
Telephone – (01904) 552030 
Email – jayne.carr@york.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

• Registering to speak 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 

 
Contact details are set out above.  

 
 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 

Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and contact 
details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no later than 5.00 
pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of business on 
the agenda or an issue which the committee has power to consider (speak 
to the Democracy Officer for advice on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy Officer. 
A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s website or 
from Democratic Services by telephoning York (01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for viewing 
online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of individual reports or the 
full agenda are available from Democratic Services.  Contact the Democracy 
Officer whose name and contact details are given on the agenda for the 
meeting. Please note a small charge may be made for full copies of the 
agenda requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  The meeting 
will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue with an induction hearing 
loop.  We can provide the agenda or reports in large print, electronically 
(computer disk or by email), in Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take 
longer than others so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours 
for Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-by or a sign 
language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact the Democracy Officer 
whose name and contact details are given on the order of business for the 
meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in another 
language, either by providing translated information or an interpreter providing 
sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone York (01904) 551550 for this 
service. 

 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



 
Holding the Executive to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Executive (40 out of 47).  
Any 3 non-Executive councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of business from a 
published Executive (or Executive Member Decision Session) agenda. The 
Executive will still discuss the ‘called in’ business on the published date and will 
set out its views for consideration by a specially convened Scrutiny 
Management Committee (SMC).  That SMC meeting will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Executive meeting in the following 
week, where a final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees appointed by the 
Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new ones, as 

necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the committees to 
which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and reports for 
the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

MEETING SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

DATE 15 MARCH 2010 

PRESENT COUNCILLORS HEALEY (CHAIR), FUNNELL 
(VICE-CHAIR), ORRELL, SCOTT, SIMPSON-
LAING, TAYLOR, R WATSON AND FIRTH 
(SUBSTITUTE FOR COUNCILLOR WAUDBY) 

APOLOGIES COUNCILLOR WAUDBY 

 
20. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Members were invited to declare at this point in the meeting any personal 
or prejudicial interests they might have in the business on the agenda.  
The following personal non-prejudicial interests were declared in agenda 
item 4 (Minute 23 refers): 

• Councillor Healey – Governor of Rufforth Primary School 
• Councillor Simpson-Laing – Governor of Carr Infants School and 

mother of a child attending a school that had been part of traffic 
survey 

• Councillor Firth – Governor of Wigginton Primary School 
• Councillor Funnell – Governor of Burnholme Community College 

 
 

21. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 February 2010 be 

confirmed and signed as a correct record. 
 
 

22. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION/OTHER SPEAKERS  
 
Councillor Alexander outlined the background to his decision to submit a 
scrutiny topic registration form on the issue of school travel plans and safe 
routes to school.  He informed the committee that he had received a 
number of complaints from residents and parents regarding issues in 
respect of irresponsible parking and vehicle speeds in the vicinity of 
schools.  School travel plans could assist schools in addressing some of 
these issues but there were resource implications in terms of reviewing the 
effectiveness of the plans.  Government funding was due to come to an 
end and it was unclear what would happen when the funding ceased.  
Councillor Alexander stated that he believed that the concerns that he had 
raised were widespread and hence he had submitted the topic registration 
form. 
 
The Chair, referring to the fact that safe routes to school generally had 
implications for capital funding whereas school travel plans were more 
focussed on encouraging behavioural change, asked Councillor Alexander 

Agenda Item 2Page 3



if it was his view that the two issues should be looked at together.  
Councillor Alexander confirmed this to be the case. 
 
 

23. REFERRAL FROM ECONOMIC AND CITY DEVELOPMENT OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - SCHOOL TRAVEL PLANS AND SAFE 
ROUTES TO SCHOOL  
 
Members received a report that asked them to consider a referral from the 
Economic and City Development Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
requesting that a crosscutting Joint Scrutiny Task Group be established to 
look at issues in respect of school travel plans and safe routes to school.  
 
Officers gave details of the work that was currently taking place with 
schools to seek to address some of the ongoing issues and the current 
uncertainty regarding future funding.  They explained that they would be 
looking at the school census information that had recently been received in 
order to ascertain the impact of the school travel plans that were in place. 
 
Members agreed that the issues that had been raised in respect of parking 
and vehicle speeds were common to many schools.  The key issue 
continued to be the reluctance by some parents to make arrangements for 
their child to travel to school other than by car.   
 
Officers drew attention to the proposed composition of a crosscutting Joint 
Scrutiny Task Group, as detailed in paragraphs 10 and 11 of the report.  It 
was noted that if the committee agreed that a Task Group should be 
established it would be for the task group to prepare a remit and scope for 
the review. 
 
RESOLVED: (i) That a crosscutting Joint Scrutiny Task Group be 

established to look at issues in respect of school travel 
plans and safe routes to school. 

 
(ii) That the composition of the Task Group be in 

accordance with paragraphs 10 and 11 of the report. 
 
REASON: In order to address the concerns raised in the Topic 

Registration Form at Annex A to the report and the 
discussions of the Economic and City Development Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at their meeting on 22 February 
2010.  

 
 
 
 
 
Councillor P Healey, Chair 
[The meeting started at 5.00 pm and finished at 5.30 pm]. 

Page 4



 

 

  
 

   

 
Scrutiny Management Committee 28 June 2010 
 
Report of the Head of Civic, Legal & Democratic Services 
 

Traffic Congestion Ad Hoc Scrutiny Committee – Revised Final 
Report 

Summary 

1. This report presents the revised final report of the Traffic Congestion Ad Hoc 
Scrutiny Committee regarding their review on Traffic Congestion in York. 
Councillor Merrett, Chair of the Committee, will be attendance to present the 
report. 

 Background 

2. In coming to a decision to review this topic, the Committee recognised certain 
key objectives and the following remit was agreed: 

Aim 

3. To identify ways including Local Transport Plans 1 & 2  (LTP1 & LTP2) and 
other evidence, of reducing present levels of traffic congestion in York, and 
ways of minimising the impact of the forecast traffic increase. 
 
Objectives 

Having regard to the impact of traffic congestion (based on external evidence 
and those measures already implemented in LTP1 or proposed in LTP2), 
recommend and prioritise specific improvements to:  
 
i. Accessibility to services, employment, education and health 
ii. Air Quality, in particular looking at the five hotspots identified in the LTP2 
iii. CO² Emissions 
iv. Alternative environmentally viable and financially practical methods of 

transport 
v. Journey times and reliability of public transport 
vi. Economic Performance 
vii. Quality of Life 
viii Road Safety 

Consultation  

4. As part of the review the following organisations and individuals were consulted: 

Agenda Item 4Page 5



 

• Assistant Director of City Development & Transport 
• Environmental Protection Manager 
• Principal Transport Planner 
• Representatives from the local bus service providers 
• Chair of the Quality Bus Partnership 

 
5. In addition, reference was made to national Government policy documents and 

the Council’s mid-term reports on LTP2, and a number of consultation events 
were also held:  
 
• ‘Road User Charging’ (presented by Capita Symonds)  
• ‘Broad Strategic Options Available to York’ Report (presented by the   

Assistant  Director of City Development & Transport)  
• ‘Quality of Life’ (presented by Professor John Whitelegg)  
 

6. Finally, a city wide consultation survey was undertaken to gather residents 
views on the possible options available to the city for tackling congestion. 

 
7. The Committee agreed a number of recommendations as result of their 

investigative work on the objectives of this review, which were presented to this 
Committee in February 2010 and to the Executive in April 2010.  However, they 
did not include any recommendation around the testing of the scenarios 
identified from the city-wide consultation, as the results of the survey were still 
unknown at that time.   

 
8. Since then, the Traffic Congestion Scrutiny Committee have met again to 

consider the survey findings (shown at Annex E to the final report), and as a 
result have agreed an additional recommendation, shown below in paragraph 
11.  The revised final report is scheduled to be presented to the Executive on 6 
July 2010. 

 
Options  

9. Having considered the findings contained within the revised final report and its 
annexes attached, Members may chose to comment on the findings from the 
survey (shown in Annex E) and the additional recommendation shown in 
paragraph 12 below. 

Analysis 
 

10. An analysis of all of the information gathered, is shown at Annex C to the final 
report.  This now includes information relating to the committee’s analysis of the 
findings arising from the residents survey at paragraphs 24-27. 

11. The findings from the city-wide residents survey showed that in terms of a long 
term strategy, Option C (as detailed in Annex D of the final report), was the 
most favoured. However, the committee noted that the options with varying 
elements of charging (options A, B & D) received more support between them.  

 

Page 6



 

Additional Recommendation Arising from the Review     
 
12. The Committee agreed the following additional recommendation which relates 

specifically to the testing of the scenario preferred by a majority of residents, as 
identified by the results of the residents survey: 

   
xxvi In regard to the broader strategic options available to the city, and as a 

result of residents’ views arising from the citywide survey, the Executive to: 
 

• Instruct officers to work up a strategic transport package based on 
Option C, including undertaking further engagement and consultation 
with York residents and businesses, and submit an application for 
government funding for this package of measures; 

• give highest priority to improving bus services within the city, and 
lowest priority to the relative expensive and lower benefit rail solutions 
should the application for funding only be partially successful; 

• examine other innovative and creative ways in which to deliver Option 
C should an application for the required funding fall short or fail. 

 
Corporate Strategy  

13. This review related to a number of the corporate priorities contained within the 
Council Corporate Strategy i.e. the recommendations if approved, will support 
the council’s aim of making the city a healthier, more sustainable and thriving 
city, where residents have improved access to education, employment and 
health services. 

 Implications Associated with Final Report 

14. Financial – The financial implications associated with implementing the 
suggested long term transport strategy are outlined in paragraph 55 of the final 
report.  However in order to pursue these funding streams the scenarios will 
need to be tested rigorously to confirm the validity of the suggested strategy, 
which would require Council funding. At this stage it is unclear exactly how 
much funding would be required and these financial implications would need to 
be addressed in more detail in future reports to Members should the Executive 
approve the recommendations arising from this scrutiny review.  There will also 
be costs associated with working up the strategic transport package detailed in 
paragraph 12 above. 

15. Legal – As Local Highway Authority, Local Planning Authority, Local 
Environmental Health Authority and Road Traffic Authority, the Council has a 
wide range of functions it is able to discharge and powers it can exercise in 
dealing with congestion. In so acting it must adhere both to its own necessary 
authorisation procedures and all formal statutory requirements. 

 
16. There are no known HR, Equalities, Property, Crime & Disorder, or other 

implications associated with the recommendations within this report. 

 

Page 7



 

Risk Management 
 

17. There is no risk associated with the recommendation in this cover report.  
However, there are risks to the Council with not adhering to all the legislation 
associated with the statutory functions listed within the legal implications 
paragraph above.  There is also a potential risk to the Council’s reputation if it 
fails to implement the necessary measures to address the expected increase in 
congestion levels. 

 Recommendations 

18. Members are asked to note the contents of the revised final report attached and 
its annexes, and provide comments on the additional recommendation arising 
from the review,  so that these can be taken into account when the Executive 
considers the revised final report.  

Reason: To fully inform the Executive of the outcome of the Traffic Congestion 
Ad Hoc Scrutiny Review. 

Contact Details 

 
Author: 

 
Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Melanie Carr Andrew Docherty 
Head of Civic, Legal & Democratic Services 
Tel: 01904 551004 
 

Report Approved ü Date 8 June 2010 
 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)   
Legal – Martin Blythe 
Assistant Senior Solicitor 
Tel No.01904 551044 
 

Wards Affected:   All ü 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 
1 –  Road User Charging Presentation by Capita Symonds  
2 –  Broad Strategic Options Report 
3 –  Quality of Life Presentation by Professor J Whitelegg 
4 –  LTP2 Strategy for 2006-11 
5 –  Summary of Regional and Local Transport Policy 
      
Hard copies of these background papers can be obtained by contacting the report 
author.  Alternatively, they can be viewed online at:  
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12836&path=0 
   

Page 8



 

                                                                                                                                                                                       
Annexes 
Annex 1    –   Revised Final Report 
Annex A   –   Maps Showing Congestion Levels in 2005, 2011 & 2021 
Annex B   –   Information Gathered In support of Review 
Annex C   –  Analysis of Findings Including Table of Issues/Findings, Identified 

Solutions, Possible Impacts & Draft Recommendations 
Annex D   –  Broad Strategic Options - Individual Scenarios To Complement LTP3 
Annex E  -   Analysis of citywide residents survey results 
 
 
Committee Members                                        Previous Committee Members 
Councillor D Merrett (Chair)                               Councillor R Moore 
Councillor B Hudson (Vice-Chair)                      Councillor J Morley 
Councillor T Holvey                                            Councillor C Hogg 
Councillor K Orrell 
Councillor R Pierce 
Councillor T Simpson-Laing 
Councillor C Vassie 
Professor M Smith (Co-optee) 
Professor M Page (Co-optee) 
 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 1 
 

 

  

 

   

 
Traffic Congestion Ad-hoc Scrutiny Committee 18 May 2010 

 
Traffic Congestion Review - Final Report  
 

Background to Scrutiny Review 
 
1. This topic was originally registered by Cllr Tracey Simpson-Laing in April 2005 in 

order to assess the draft of the second Local Transport Plan (LTP2) prior to its 
submission.  It was envisaged that the scrutiny process would ensure that LTP2 
met the aspirations of the Planning & Transport Panel and allow time for the 
Executive Member to be questioned on issues of concern.  A decision was taken to 
defer the topic and LTP2 was subsequently submitted without any pre-decision 
scrutiny. 

2. In November 2006 Scrutiny Management Committee (SMC) reconsidered the topic 
registration suggested by Cllr Simpson-Laing, together with a draft remit for a 
revised scrutiny review focusing on tackling traffic congestion.  After due 
consideration, SMC agreed an initial timeframe of six months for the review 
(subsequently extended), and the following amended remit was agreed: 

Aim 
 

To identify ways including Local Transport Plans 1 & 2  (LTP1 & LTP2) and other 
evidence, of reducing present levels of traffic congestion in York, and ways of 
minimising the impact of the forecast traffic increase. 

 
Objectives 

 
Having regard to the impact of traffic congestion (based on external evidence and 
those measures already implemented in LTP1 or proposed in LTP2), recommend 
and prioritise specific improvements to:  
 
i. Accessibility to services, employment, education and health 
ii. Air Quality, in particular looking at the five hotspots identified in the LTP2 
iii. CO² Emissions 
iv. Alternative environmentally viable and financially practical methods of 

transport 
v. Journey times and reliability of public transport 
vi. Economic Performance 
vii. Quality of Life 
viii. Road Safety    
 
Background to Congestion Issues 
 

3. Officers gave a number of briefings to the Committee on the congestion issues 
faced in York.  For practical purposes, congestion was defined as ‘where traffic flow 

Page 11



Annex 1 
 

exceeds 85% of the road / junction capacity’.  This definition was adopted as below 
that level traffic generally flows smoothly but above that level flow becomes 
unpredictable causing disruption leading to reduced or no free flow. 

4. By 2011 traffic levels [above 2005 levels] are forecast to increase by 14%, with this 
figure doubling by 2021. This will affect not only the quality of life for the residents of 
York, but also the ability of the city to attract new jobs, investment and tourism.  To 
understand the serious growth and spread of congestion on the principal road 
network in York, the Committee was presented with information on the modelling 
work undertaken by Halcrow in 2005 for the LTP2 submission.  This work was 
initially produced using the older versions of the council’s Saturn model, which was 
later replaced by a new Saturn/multi-modal model in 2006.  Within the model were 
the projected new developments and infrastructure improvements expected to be 
delivered through LTP2 and its successors, and any additional infrastructure 
delivered through major scheme bids such as Access York or through developer led 
initiatives.  It allowed different development scenarios to be tested at both a macro 
and micro level and new developments were assessed to identify their impact upon 
the road network, which was very much driven by the type, content and extent of 
the development proposal.  The modelling looked at the peak traffic flow (weekday 
mornings 7am – 9am).  It compared the traffic levels for 2005, against the projected 
2011 LTP2 based do minimum, the 2021 do minimum & the 2021 do something – 
as shown on the maps at Annex A.  

5. The future projections took into account both the additional traffic from anticipated 
employment and residential development such as York Central, University Campus 
3, Germany Beck, Derwenthorpe, and Hungate etc and the LTP2 congestion 
tackling measures i.e. outer ring road junction improvements, Park & Ride 
expansion, and network management improvements for bus and cycle routes.  It did 
not take into account York Northwest (i.e. York Central plus the  British Sugar 
works) or more recent development opportunities such as Terrys and Nestlés. 

6. In common with most other cities, traffic flows in York (and associated congestion 
levels) vary greatly by time of  day, and by weekday . The graph below shows the 
typical traffic flow patterns for weekdays, Saturdays and Sundays over a selection 
of main roads in the City. 

 

Average flows by hour - 5 year average

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

Time of Day (24 hour clock)

V
eh

ic
le

 F
lo

w
 p

er
 H

r

Weekday

Saturday

Sunday

 
 

Page 12



Annex 1 
 

7. It is generally accepted that the worst periods for traffic congestion are during the 
early morning and late afternoon periods on weekdays, as the highest flows show in 
the graph below.  However, there are now similar levels of flow experienced on 
Saturdays, from late morning to early afternoon.  These average results hide 
particular hotspots on certain days and at certain times.  There is also evidence of 
the peak period spreading as a result of drivers responding to congestion: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Inbound flow levels by hour of AM traffic levels in the City of York in 
2000, 2006 & 2008

(in comparison to the highest flow level recorded - set at 100%)
(data taken from 11 Inbound Automatic Traffic Counters)

20%

65%

76%

96%

70%70%

25%

79%

79%

100%

73%71%

29%

84%

75%

94%

71%
70%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

6am - 7am 7am - 8am 8am - 9am 9am - 10am 10am - 11am 11am - 12pm

2000

2006

2008

 

 Peak Spreading - based on average hourly weekday counts 
(Data from 11 inbound automatic Traffic Counters) 

Hull Rd, Fulford Rd, Bishopthorpe Rd, Tadcaster Rd, Wetherby Rd, Boroughbridge Rd, Shipton Rd, 
Wigginton Rd, Haxby Rd, Huntington Rd, & Malton Rd 

0 

1000 

2000 

3000 

4000 

5000 

6000 

7000 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 
Year 

V
eh

ic
le

s 6am - 7am 
7am - 8am 
8am - 9am 
9am - 10am 

Page 13



Annex 1 
 

 
 

8. In order to fully investigate and understand the effects that congestion has on the 
improvement areas identified within the remit shown at paragraph 2, Members held 
a series of meetings between November 2006 and October 2009, as listed in Annex 
B, together with the Committee’s initial findings. 

 
Consultation 
 

9. This scrutiny review has been progressed in consultation with the Assistant Director 
of City Development & Transport, the Environmental Protection Manager and other 
key officers in City Strategy.  Representatives of the local bus service providers and 
the Chair of the Quality Bus Partnership were also consulted in relation to Objective 
(v) - Journey times and reliability of public transport.  In addition, reference was 
made to national Government policy documents and the Council’s mid-term reports 
on LTP2. 

 
10. A number of consultation events were also held: 
 

• ‘Road User Charging’ (presented by Capita Symonds)  
• ‘Broad Strategic Options Available to York’ Report (presented by the Assistant  

Director of City Development & Transport)  
• ‘Quality of Life’ (presented by Professor John Whitelegg) 

 
11. The presentations are shown as background papers to this final report - copies can 

be obtained by contacting the report author or viewed online at: 
http://democracy.york.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12836&path=0 

  
12. Finally, the Committee considered the findings from previously completed 

consultation surveys carried out at the time of LTP1 & LTP2.   
 
Information Gathered 
 

13. A full breakdown of the information gathered in support of each of the identified 
objectives for this scrutiny review is detailed in Annex B.  In regard to the residents 
survey, the Committee intend adding a summary of the collated results to this final 
report at paragraph 50 of Annex B, once the results are known.   

 
Analysis & Review Conclusions  
 

14. The Committee have comprehensively reviewed the Council’s current transport 
policies as expressed through LTP2 and the ‘Access York’ initiative, and their 
impact on meeting anticipated traffic growth (including from the continued economic 
success and housing expansion of York) against the objectives of this review and 
against the views of York residents.  Their analysis of the information gathered, 
together with a matrix outlining the issues, potential solutions, impacts and draft 
recommendations is included at Annex C.    

 
15. The Committee went on to consider the strategic options available to the Council. 

These suggested a number of scenarios which could complement LTP2 to further 
reduce congestion in the city Those scenarios are shown in detail in Annex D in 
increasing order of complexity, cost and contribution to reducing congestion.   

Page 14



Annex 1 
 

 
16. Given the need to both obtain wider public understanding of the increasing 

transport problems facing the city and the transport choices required to respond to 
those problems, the Committee agreed it would be beneficial to carry out a citywide 
consultation exercise to gather residents views on the findings from this scrutiny 
review and the broad strategic options available to the city, as set out in Annex D.  
A survey of residents views was carried out early 2010, and the findings are shown 
at Annex E.  

 
17. Overall, the Committee noted that transport policy figures very little in the current 

Sustainable Community Strategy vision, despite its importance in delivering much of 
its ambitions, and in terms of the feedback from York resident’s surveys on the 
importance of tackling congestion. 

 
18. The Committee acknowledged the continuing priority that York residents place on 

tackling congestion, their mixed views on adopting differing solutions, and the  need 
for continuing substantial engagement with residents and businesses to gain mutual 
understanding of: 

 
• the potential future problems 
• what may or may not work, and scale of benefit  
• what the appropriate policy trade offs may be  
• the need to act in advance given ongoing traffic growth and delivery time lags 
 

19. It was recognised that whilst many positive initiatives and measures are being 
undertaken, they will not be sufficient to avoid significantly worsening traffic and 
congestion problems over the next decade or so, notwithstanding the short term 
effects of the current recession, which could both adversely affect quality of life in 
York and undermine the City’s future economic success and well-being.  Also, the 
anticipated growth in motorised traffic and congestion, despite vehicle efficiency 
improvements and modal shift, will lead to continuing air quality problems and 
increases in greenhouse gas emissions, against the EU health based air quality 
standards and the recent government act target of an 80% cut in emissions by 
2050. 

 
20. The Committee have therefore concluded that the broad overall solution to both 

congestion and the climate change challenge is a concerted approach using the 
hierarchy of measures outlined below: 

 
1st Reduce the need to travel, and the length of journeys (through IT, land use 

planning policies and other solutions) 
2nd Undertake the maximum proportion of journeys by green and environmentally 

friendly modes 
3rd Optimise the uptake of car sharing 
4th In short term, switch to lower carbon emission fuels, maximise engine 

efficiency and lower embedded carbon model   
5TH In medium term switch to non-carbon based fuels (although need to be mindful 

of recent evidence that suggests growing crops for bio-fuels may be 
contributing to third world deforestation and food shortages, hence affecting 
food prices) 

6th Improve driving standards / training (for fuel efficiency and safety, and to make 
roads safer and more attractive to green travel modes)  

Page 15



Annex 1 
 

7th Reduce congestion delays and engine idling in traffic queues to reduce fuel 
wastage 

 
21. Whilst improving engine efficiency and switching to lower/ non carbon based fuels is 

primarily nationally driven, all of the hierarchy of measures can be progressed 
locally to varying degrees and with 56% of York’s commuting journeys being less 
than 5km, there is clearly a lot of room to move in terms of undertaking more 
journeys by green and environmentally less damaging modes, car sharing and 
reducing congestion delays. 

 
22. There is also a need to persuade individuals to make socially informed choices too, 

with the ‘Smart Choices’ approach being key, which have proven effective 
elsewhere and high in value for money terms.  This will need a very specific on-
going public engagement and promotional strategy around ‘Smart Choices’, 
including reinvigorating the Green Travel Plan approach with York employers and 
institutions. 
 
Implications 

 
23. Financial – most of the short term recommendations can be implemented 

administratively and through the third Local Transport Plan.  Some, such as Smart 
Choices and revised Travel Plans, will require additional revenue funding 
commitments.  There are financial implications associated with implementing the 
suggested long term transport strategy, as outlined in paragraph 10 of Annex C.  
However in order to pursue these funding streams the preferred scenarios identified 
as a result of the city-wide residents survey, will need to be tested rigorously to 
confirm the validity of their strategy.  This would require Council funding but at this 
stage exactly how much is unclear.  This would need to be considered before a 
decision was taken on how to proceed. 

 
24. Legal – As Local Highway Authority, Local Planning Authority, Local Environmental 

Health Authority and Road Traffic Authority, the Council has a wide range of 
functions it is able to discharge and powers it can exercise in dealing with 
congestion. In so acting it must adhere both to its own necessary authorisation 
procedures and all formal statutory requirements. 

 
25. There are no known HR, Equalities, Crime & Disorder, Property or Other 

implications arising from the recommendations agreed to date.  However, there are 
likely to be some HR implications associated with any additional recommendations 
around the testing of the preferred scenarios, which will be made once the survey 
results have been analysed. 

 
Risk Management 
 

26. There are risks to the Council associated with not adhering to all the legislation 
associated with the statutory functions listed within the legal implications paragraph 
above.  There is also a potential risk to the Council’s reputation if it fails to 
implement the necessary measures to address the expected increase in congestion 
levels.  

 
Corporate Strategy 

 

Page 16



Annex 1 
 

27. The implementation of the recommendations arising from this review will support a 
number of the corporate priorities contained within the Council Corporate Strategy 
i.e. they support the council’s aim of making the city a healthier, more sustainable 
and thriving city, where residents have improved access to education, employment 
and health services. 

Recommendations Arising From The Review 
 

28. The Committee agreed a number of recommendations as result of their 
investigative work for this review.  These were split into two parts: 

 
• those that in the Committee’s view need to be implemented in the short to 

medium term and included in LTP3 as appropriate and; 
• those that make up a long term strategic response to tackling congestion from 

LTP3 onwards. 
 
29. Short/Medium Term Recommendations - The following key priorities for the 

Council should be set and appropriately incorporated into LTP3: 
 

Overall 
i. Strengthen the place of transport policy in future versions of York’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy to recognise its importance in the life of the city and the 
importance of tackling congestion to its’ residents 

 
ii. Commission a detailed study involving stakeholders, of a long term Transport 

Strategy to 2025 and beyond based around the scenarios emerging from the 
consultation.  

 
iii. Adopt an on-going public engagement strategy in terms of the future transport 

strategy and solutions for the City  
 
iv. Adopt the transport hierarchy detailed in paragraph 19 above 

 
v. Fund the development of a comprehensive ‘Smart Choice’ package including 

personalised journey planning to maximise modal shift together with a re-
invigoration of ‘Travel Plans’, ensuring they are implemented, monitored and 
periodically updated 

 
vi. Re-acknowledge the role of city centre car park availability and fee levels 

relative to bus fares in influencing modal choice, whilst taking account of the 
short term economic situation and recognising the importance of both 
imperatives. Remove car park charges from the budget process entirely and 
set them as part of a longer term policy approach to both transport and the city 
centre economy  

 
vii. Ensure the current local development control policies on limiting city centre car 

parks are enforced and further tightened up within the new Local Development 
Framework  

 
viii. Seek an agreed traffic enforcement strategy with North Yorkshire Police for the 

York area and establish an on-going delivery partnership arrangement to 
address issues including: 
• bus priorities 

Page 17



Annex 1 
 

• road safety 
• on-street parking 
• school no parking zones 
• considerate road user campaigns across all modes 

   
ix. Make representations to Government in relation to the roll out powers to non 

London authorities on enforcement issues possibly through sustainable 
communities act 

 
 Public Transport 
x. Undertake an early comprehensive review of the current bus network in terms 

of appropriate changes to match changing development patterns and gaps etc, 
since the 2002 review 

 
xi. Undertake an urgent review of the Council’s bus strategy, taking into account 

the new powers in the recent transport act, so as to move towards a bus 
network that is completely integrated from the bus users point of view, 
including integrated ticketing and day round services, to include: 
• Examining how the current stagnation in overall bus usage, decline in non-

concessionary usage, and in the conventional bus network can be reversed 
• Ensuring positive promotion of bus network and bus usage including 

passenger information 
• Improving the quality of interchange points between public transport modes 

and between routes with designated interchange stops, and co-ordinate 
bus timings 

• Prioritising the provision of timetable displays and bus shelters at all bus 
stops 

• Requesting that local bus companies continue to revise bus timetables to 
provide more accurate and credible timings, and work to them 

• Improving access to York District Hospital from all parts of the city, which 
may involve route revisions and through ticketing.  Demand for parking at 
and around the Hospital as well as improved access can be achieved by 
ensuring the extension of Park & Ride services to include the Hospital 

 
xii. Introduce a Bus Champion for the City to support City Strategy and bus 

operators in re-invigorating the Quality Bus Partnership, and use them to:  
• Examine and implement ways of improving bus boarding times, whilst 

avoiding penalising occasional and less well off bus users 
• Identify underused bus services and undertake those measures that would 

most effectively stop the current decline in bus usage i.e. ticketing and 
marketing measures for all services, holding down bus fare levels, 
increased non-concessionary bus priorities, influencing public attitudes and 
tackling outstanding issues from the 2001 Steer Davies review 

• Review the operation and delivery of the BLISS real time bus information 
display system and agree a comprehensive programme for its early roll out 
across the whole network, with local bus operators 

• review loading and parking restrictions and their enforcement on bus routes 
with bus operators and the Police 

• work with partners in the wider York area 
 
xiii. Drive through early implementation of full DDA compliance for all Council 

vehicles used by social services, and council procured bus services, and 
CCTV in taxis and private hire vehicles 

Page 18



Annex 1 
 

 
 Walking & Cycling 
xiv  Ensure better pedestrian priority at traffic signals and in road & junction layouts 

to simplify and speed up pedestrian crossing times whilst minimising the knock 
on consequences 

 
xv. Tackle road safety issues and help to make roads more attractive to green 

modes by undertaking ‘Considerate Road User’ campaigns 
 
xvi. Reinvigorate cycling in York using the ‘Cycling City’ initiative and funding by: 

• tackling key gaps in the network and difficult locations i.e. bridges, key 
radials and junctions, as identified by the 2003/4 cycling scrutiny review but 
as yet not implemented 

• improving planning processes to ensure adequate consideration is given in 
new designs to cycling  

• relaunching the Cycling Forum with a view to giving stakeholders the 
opportunity to shape future cycling policies and proposals, and to 
encourage partnership work 

 
xvii. The Cycling Champion for York to: 

• ensure cycling measures are focused around what will make a difference 
• promote considerate road user behaviour by cyclists 
• engage the business community to encourage the provision of cycling 

facilities for both employees and visitors/customers 
  
 Air Quality  
xviii. Undertake an urgent review of the Air Quality Management Plan with a view to 

taking more radical action to eliminate the health risks associated with York’s 
NO2 hotspots, by the EU deadline of 2010.  This should include: 
• examining the progression of low emission zones 
• queue relocations using ITS/UTMC 
• further tightening of the Euro-emission vehicle requirements on the 

Council’s own and its partner’s vehicle fleets, tendered transport services 
and licensed vehicle services, given that buses account for 42% of road 
traffic emissions  

• promoting electric vehicles and the servicing infrastructure to support their 
roll out 

• consideration of a new city centre servicing plan, particular where traffic 
flows are frequently interrupted, and the introduction a local freight 
transhipment centre 

• working with the PCT to increase understanding of the associated health 
issues 

 
xix. Undertake a short term project to measure the levels of the most harmful 

PM2.5 carcinogen carrying particles to understand if there is a problem in York 
 

30. Strategic Recommendations 
 
xxi. The Council and Local Strategic Partnership to adopt the following long-term 

vision for transport in the City, complementing the city’s Sustainable 
Community Strategy, giving a clear direction to what the city’s transport will 
look like in the future: 

 

Page 19



Annex 1 
 

‘A city which has transformed itself in traffic terms and reasserted its human 
scale and environmental credentials, through its residents being able and 
positively choosing to travel less by car and more by foot, bicycle and public 
transport with little delay, so as to be individually healthier and collectively to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and improve local air quality, noise levels 
and quality of life, and where business, leisure and other activity is thriving 
because of good affordable quality and easy access by a choice of travel 
modes’ 
 

xxii Given the key importance of public transport within the above, the following 
subsidiary vision for public transport should be adopted: 

 
‘By 2026 York is benefiting from one of the best and most popular local bus 
services in the country outside London, offering a seamless passenger 
experience, with a single competitively priced ticketing system, high frequency 
daytime services to all key destinations in the city, recognised interchange 
points with well timetabled connections where bus transfer is required, non 
carbon fuelled fully disabled accessible vehicles, friendly and welcoming staff 
who drive considerately of passengers and other road users, good bus stop 
facilities and reliable interactive timetable information.’ 

 
xxiii. Ensure Council and its partners work consistently towards the implementation 

of the two visions 
 

xxiv  In regard to buses, the Council to: 
 

• Ensure further comprehensive 5-yearly reviews of the bus network are 
carried out to optimise the network and service frequency, to take into 
account new housing and other developments 

 
xxv.  In regard to freight, the Council to: 

 
• Continue to keep the issue of providing a freight transhipment centre for 

the City under review if a suitable site and funding mechanisms come 
forward 

• Lobby government (national and EU) to improve standards for HGV 
engine efficiency and emissions 

• Ensure council owned and partners vehicle fleets, and tendered delivery 
vehicles move rapidly towards the most up to date emission and efficiency 
standards 

 
xxvi In regard to the broader strategic options available to the city, and as a result 

of residents views arising from the citywide survey, the Council to: 
 

• Instruct officers to work up a strategic transport package based on Option 
C (as detailed in Annex D), including undertaking further engagement and 
consultation with York residents and businesses, and submit an 
application for government funding for this package of measures.  

• give highest priority to improving bus services within the city, and lowest 
priority to the relative expensive and lower benefit rail solutions should the 
application for funding only be partially successful, and 

• examine other innovative and creative ways in which to deliver Option C 
should an application for the required funding fall short or fail 

Page 20



Annex 1 
 

 
 
Contact Details 
 
Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 
Melanie Carr 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
Tel No. 01904 552063. 

Alison Lowton  
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services  
Tel No. 01904 551004 
 
Final Report Approved ü Date 7 May 2010 

Wards Affected:   All ü 
 
Implications  
Legal – Martin Blythe, Senior Assistant Solicitor – Tel No. 01904 551044 
 
 
For further information or hard copies of the background papers listed below, 
please contact the author of the report 
 
 
Background Papers:  
1  –  Road User Charging Presentation by Capita Symonds  
2  –  Broad Strategic Options Report 
3  –  Quality of Life Presentation by Professor J Whitelegg 
4  –   LTP2 Strategy for 2006-11 
5  –  Summary of Regional and Local Transport Policy 
 
These background papers can also be viewed online at:   
www.democracy.york.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12964&path=12836 
 
Annexes 
Annex A  -   Maps showing congestion levels in 2005, 2011 & 2021 
Annex B  -   Information Gathered In Support of Review 
Annex C  -   Analysis of Findings Including Table of Issues/Findings, Identified Solutions, 

Possible Impacts & Draft Recommendations 
Annex D  -   Broad Strategic Options - Individual Scenarios To Complement LTP3, 

including Options A-D as consulted on within the residents survey 
Annex E  -   Analysis of citywide residents survey results 
 
Committee Members    Previous Committee Members 
Councillor D Merrett (Chair)   Councillor D Livesley 
Councillor B Hudson (Vice-Chair)   Councillor R Moore 
Councillor T Holvey     Councillor J Morley 
Councillor K Orrell     Councillor C Hogg   
Councillor R Pierce 
Councillor T Simpson-Laing 
Councillor C Vassie 
Professor M Smith (Co-optee) 
Mr M Page (Co-optee) 
 
 
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Annex A 

AM Peak 2005 
 

Date Produced 19 June 

P
age 23



 
Annex A 

AM Peak 2011 Do Minimum 
 

Date Produced 19 June 

P
age 24



 
Annex A 

AM Peak 2021 Do Minimum 
 

Date Produced 19 June 

P
age 25



 
Annex A 

AM Peak 2021 – Do Something 
 
 
 
 

Date Produced 19 June 

P
age 26



 
 

Annex B 
 

 
Review Objectives - Information Gathered 

 
1. In order to fully investigate and understand the affects that congestion has on the 

improvement areas identified within the remit for the review, Members held a series 
of meetings between November 2006 and October 2009, as detailed below: 
 
Meeting Date Improvement Area Under Consideration 
19 February 2007 Consideration of Scoping Report 
4 April 2007 Consideration of Interim Report - looking at improvements 

to ‘Accessibility to Services, Employment, Education and 
health’ 

19 June 2007 Consideration of Interim Report and Presentations on Air 
Quality & Accessibility Mapping  

17 July 2007 Consideration of Interim Report – looking at ‘Alternative 
environmentally viable and financially practical methods of 
transport’, ‘CO² Emissions’ & ‘Journey times and reliability 
of public transport’.  Chair of the Quality Bus Partnership 
and representatives from the bus companies in attendance 

4 September 2007 Consideration of Interim Report – looking at smarter choice 
options, sustainable fuels and York vehicle fleet statistics 

25 September 2007 Consideration of Interim Report – summarising possible 
solutions identified in  relation to objectives (i)-(v), the 
recognised impact of those solutions, and resulting draft 
recommendations   

16 October 2007 Consideration of Interim Report - looking at impediments to 
traffic flow 

19 November 2007 Consideration of Interim Report - looking at national & local 
perspective on school travel, the modes of transport used 
by pupils in York schools, and the cycling issues in York 

12 December 2007 Consideration of Interim Report - looking at optimising the 
network and revised draft table of findings, identified 
solutions with impact evaluation, and recommendations 

16 January 2008 Consideration of Interim Report – detailing the options for 
consulting with York residents on the broad strategic 
options  

18 February 2008 Presentation from Capita Symonds re Road User Charging 
27 February 2008 Presentation from CYC officers re Broad Strategic Options 

available to the City 
10 March 2008 Presentation from Professor John Whitelegg re Quality of 

Life 
17 April 2008 Consideration of Interim Report – looking at ‘Road Safety’ 

and various elements which make up the broad strategic 
options available to the City 

21 May 2008 Informal meeting to discuss scenarios and combinations of 
those which could form a long-term transport strategy for 
the City, and the layout of proposed city-wide survey  

12 June 2008 Consideration of draft final report, prior to its inclusion as an 
annex to an SMC report requesting the relevant funding for 
the consultation exercise   

7 May 2009 Consideration of draft final report, prior to its presentation to 

Page 27



 
 

Annex B 
 

SMC requesting a carry forward of the funding for the 
residents survey 

1 October 2009 Consideration of draft final report, air quality update report 
and draft survey 

 
2. The following sections summarise the areas / issues looked at and a matrix 

outlining the issues, potential solutions, impacts and draft recommendations is 
shown at Annex C. 

 
3. Accessibility to services, employment, education and health  

Consultation carried out as part of LTP2 found that improving access to services for 
all was the second most important priority for York residents, after reducing 
congestion.  A ‘Citywide Accessibility Strategy for York’ was therefore developed as 
part of LTP2, in partnership with land-use planners, healthcare providers, education 
bodies, Jobcentre Plus, retail outlets, transport operators and community groups.  
The first stage of this strategy was to carry out a strategic audit, in order to identify 
local needs and objectives.  As a result, action plans containing a range of 
solutions and available options were developed for the following key areas: 

 
• Access to York Hospital – mapping identified the time taken to travel by 

public transport to the hospital from different areas of the city;  
• Transport information – mapping identified that improved real–time 

information together with better publicity of the bus route network would 
improve public confidence.  Also improved signage would encourage the use 
of pedestrian / cycle networks;  

• Access to out-of-town centres – mapping identified a demand for responsive 
transport. A contribution from developers and the introduction of orbital / cross 
city bus services was required; 

• Rural accessibility problems - mapping identified a demand for responsive 
transport and an improved public right of way network.  It also recognised the 
need to support cross boundary services; and 

• Access to education - mapping identified the time taken to travel by public 
transport to secondary schools across the city. 

 
4. Subsequent to the submission of LTP2 there was a hiatus in the Accessibility 

mapping work due to the lack of resources in City Strategy.  The Committee were 
pleased to note that this had now been addressed and the work re-commenced.  
However, the Committee recognised that to be really beneficial, this work would 
need completing, conclusions identified, and means of implementing the necessary 
solutions fed into future policy and programmes.    

   
5. Air Quality & CO2  Emissions  

Carbon fuelled engines represent the overwhelming majority of current road 
vehicles.  They produce both CO2 (greenhouse gas) and polluting emissions, and 
the pollutant Nitrogen Dioxide(NO2) in particular.  They represent a significant 
source of CO2  albeit by no means the largest share, but the single most important 
source of the latter. 
 

6. It is recognised that there is limited scope at local level for moving towards 
alternative fuel technology as this is predominately a matter for the EU, National 
Government and the motor vehicle industry.  In isolation, the technological 

Page 28



 
 

Annex B 
 

improvements currently anticipated are expected to result in a 14% reduction in 
CO2 emissions from 2001 to 2020. 
 

7. Air Quality - There are currently five technical breach areas in York’s Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA), where levels of nitrogen dioxide caused mainly by 
vehicle exhaust emissions exceed the annual objective.  These are: 
 
• Fishergate • Holgate Road 
• Gillygate • Nunnery Lane 
• Lawrence Street  
 

8. Improved air quality was one of the four key aims of LTP2, which contains an Air 
Quality Action Plan to limit the average nitrogen dioxide concentrations to 30µg/m3 
by 2011.  It was expected that if the plan was implemented as recommended within 
the AQMA, the annual average nitrogen dioxide objective would have been met in 
most locations by 2011, although there would still be some exceedances in the 
technical breach areas.  Subsequent monitoring has shown worsened levels in the 
last three years, which indicates that the predicted reductions were due mainly to 
cleaner vehicle technology and not measures in LTP2, and any increase in vehicle 
numbers may eventually negate this reduction: 

Air Quality Indicator 

0
5
10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Year 

m
ic
ro
gr
am

m
es
/c
ub
ic
 

m
et
re

Trajectory Actual Trend

 
9. Outside of York’s AQMA, current concentrations in Fulford Main Street give rise to 

serious concerns.  As there are significant levels of further development planned for 
this area, it is recognised that a further AQMA may need to be declared if there is 
no improvement.  Similarly, work done in regard to the recent Terrys factory site 
planning application identified concerns of additional potential AQMA implications at 
the top end of Bishopthorpe Road from that development. 

 
10. Overall, the Committee shared officers’ view that the current air quality 

management strategy has neither the strength or urgency to address the continuing 
problem and threat to local residents health in the current and potentially affected 
areas.  They recognised that a more radical approach to reducing the volume of 
traffic and congestion in those areas is now required.  The Committee therefore 
endorse officers’ view that a Low Emissions Strategy including a central low 
emission zone (LEZ) in the AQMA is required before the end of LTP2 and 
introduced early in LTP3.  In addition, the Council should tighten the existing local 

Page 29



 
 

Annex B 
 

development control policy regarding the proliferation of low cost car parking in and 
around the city centre in the emerging Local Development Framework. 

 
11. CO2  Emissions - The issue of CO2 emissions was also recently picked up in a 

Government discussion paper ‘Towards a Sustainable Transport System’ which 
was responding to the Stern Report on the Economies of Climate Change, the 
Eddington Transport Review and the recently passed Climate Change Act requiring 
an 80% reduction in the UK’s CO2 emissions by 2050. 

 
12. The way transport could meet its share of this massive reduction target was 

outlined in the July 2008 Carbon Pathways Analysis, which showed that transport 
represents 20% of the UK’s domestic emissions and that road traffic accounts for 
92% of that total.  This was further broken down to show that car journeys represent 
58%, light vehicles 15%, buses 4% and HGVs 20%.  As 57% of car journeys are 
under 5km, greener modes of travel would offer a major potential alternative and 
could be the focus for local policies.  The paper also noted the high carbon footprint 
of business and commuter travel i.e. larger cars, low occupancy and travel in 
congested fuel inefficient conditions.  In acknowledging the lead role for national 
Government, the committee also understood the clear role local policy and actions 
could play in supporting and encouraging modal shift and reducing people’s need to 
travel.  
 

13. The Committee therefore recognised the following broad local policy approach to 
reducing transport based CO2 emissions: 

 
• Reduce the need to travel, and the length of journeys (through IT, land use 

planning policies and other solutions) 
• Undertake the maximum proportion of journeys by environmentally friendly 

modes 
• Optimise the uptake of car sharing 
• In short term, switch to lower carbon emission fuels, maximise engine 

efficiency and lower embedded carbon model   
• In medium term switch to non-carbon based fuels (although need to be mindful 

of recent evidence that suggests growing crops for bio-fuels may be 
contributing to third world deforestation and food shortages, hence affecting 
food prices) 

• Improve driving standards / training (for fuel efficiency and safety, and to make 
roads safer and more attractive to green travel modes)  

• Reduce congestion delays and engine idling in traffic queues to reduce fuel 
wastage 

 
14. Alternative environmentally viable and financially practical methods of 

transport  
There is ample evidence to support the view that the volume of vehicles using our 
highways is now damaging the local environment enjoyed by local residents, both 
through their presence, and the noise and pollution they generate.  Therefore the 
core aspects for any ‘environmentally friendly transport’ are that it has a minimal 
polluting impact, it is quiet and it is only used when and where absolutely 
necessary. 

 
15. York has a high level of short commuting trips (57% of commuting trips by York 

residents were less than 5km / 3miles in 2001). This suggests that walking and 

Page 30



 
 

Annex B 
 

cycling could provide an alternative mode of transport for York’s commuters and 
therefore be particularly effective at helping to reduce congestion at peak times.  At 
present 12% of York’s commuters travel by cycle and 14% walk.  With the right 
policies and facilities there is significant potential for increasing these levels with the 
added clear cut benefit of improved health.  

 
16. LTP2 has a range of initiatives targeted at increasing the share of cycling and 

walking in York. However, officers argue that these modes neither suit all journeys 
or are attractive to everyone.  The young, the elderly and those with young children 
are target groups, but there are constraints to growth in these areas.   

 
17. Although much has been done in York in the past to encourage cycling, this 

approach has faltered and the increase in cycling’s share of the travel market has 
remained largely static for a few years.  Equally, walking has been encouraged but 
has also reached a point where additional trips are not being made.  It is recognised 
that without work to influence attitudes and provide alternatives, modern lifestyles 
and the layout of the city are constraints that could continue to result in a continued 
demand for motorised vehicle-based travel.   If these issues can be addressed, the 
Committee recognise there is potential, supported by the recent successful bid for 
‘Cycling City’ status and funds, for increasing York’s cycle usage in line with the 
much higher levels of cycling in many European towns and cities. 

 
18. In regard to walking, the Committee would like to see an initiative similar to ‘Cycling 

City’ set within a wider public approach to encouraging modal shift, and tackling 
perceptions of danger. 

 
19. To a degree, the demand for trips could also be accommodated by public transport, 

be it multi passenger type vehicles including community transport and specialist 
services like ‘Dial-a-Ride’, or taxis/private hire.  These ‘shared’ vehicles could be of 
an environmentally friendly type and thus provide transport at a reduced cost to the 
environment.  However without wider public campaigns, improved alternatives 
and/or financial incentives, given an option individuals would generally use their 
own private transport because of its perceived advantage over the disadvantages of 
shared / public transport.   

 
20. In an effort to find ways of influencing journey choice, the role of wider education 

and promotion campaigns was discussed. It was identified that no campaigns were 
undertaken between 2002 and 2007 for financial and staffing reasons.  The 
Committee were informed that individualised journey planning through the ‘Smart 
Travel’ initiative, had major potential to influence choice and change people’s travel 
patterns, and evidence from previous work (York pilot in 2003) and more recent 
work in Sustainable Cities & Cycle Demonstration Towns confirm this i.e. the towns 
of Worcester, Peterborough & Darlington focussing on personalised transport 
planning with 56,650 households at under £20 /head, achieved 9% reduction on car 
journeys, and 13%, 15% and 12% increases in walking, cycling and use of public 
transport respectively1  The Committee endorsed officer’s view that the ‘Smart 
Travel’ initiative was a key measure to be pursued in York in the future. 

 
 
 

                                            
1 DfT ‘Meeting targets through Transport’ (July 2008) 

Page 31



 
 

Annex B 
 
21. Journey Times and the Reliability of Public Transport 

As part of this review, a week long survey of a cross-section of York bus and Park & 
Ride services was carried out in June 2007 comparing timetabled arrival times and 
actual arrival times at surveyed stops both on and off peak.  As a result,  a number 
of issues were identified: 

 
• a significant variation between the two times - on some services the variation 

was as much as 4 minutes early and 4 minutes late on a timetabled 10-minute 
frequency 

 
• None of the services looked at consistently met their published timetable 

throughout the day or even a substantial part of it 
 
• The legal status of bus timetables - it was confirmed that the Commissioner 

would expect 95% of services to be on time, and if the timetable was not 
consistently met he could impose sanctions 

 
• Only 66% of the buses running on ‘Punctuality Improvement Partnership’ (PIP) 

routes were ‘Bus Location Information Sub System’ (BLISS) enabled, 
therefore customer perceptions were that the information provided was 
unreliable.  This was either to do with drivers not turning the equipment on or 
with vehicles not having the equipment installed, despite previous agreements 
with some operators 

 
• The average cost of installing the BLISS system on a bus route was in the 

region of £10,000 
 

• Unforeseen difficulties affecting journey times e.g. delivery vehicles in the 
town centre etc – it was recognised that the relocation of large delivery 
vehicles to transhipment centres could create problems elsewhere 

 
• Problems with buses not adhering to the speed limit in an effort to stick to the 

timetable 
 

• Variations in peak traffic flows during school holidays - it was confirmed that 
flow was between 8-10% lower and that this made a significant difference to 
reliability  

 
• The relative cheapness of the Park and Ride fares compared to local bus 

services – it was noted that this created a perverse incentive for local 
residents to drive to a Park and Ride site  

 
• The number of buses in operation that were still not Disability Discrimination 

Act (DDA) compliant, although the committee acknowledges that many bus 
operators are continuing to upgrade their fleets to achieve greater compliance 

 
•  The need to make clear to the public any changes to services i.e. Rawcliffe 

Bar Park and Ride where additional stops had now been added which resulted 
in a bus service rather than a high frequency express service 

 
• not all bus stops have timetables or shelters 

 

Page 32



 
 

Annex B 
 

• where more than one Bus Company services a journey, passengers have to 
purchase more than one ticket to cross the city making the journeys 
particularly expensive, leave aside the time penalties and the inconvenience of 
changing services.  This problem has become worse since the awarding of a 
number of socially necessary bus services to other than the main local bus 
operator. 

 
22. Since the survey was carried out, the main local operator has revised the timetables 

on some of its routes, to ensure they better reflect the actual arrival times e.g. the 
No.6 timetable no longer shows a service with a 10-minute frequency during peak 
times. 

 
23. In 2001 Steer Davies Gleave Consultants examined the reliability of bus services in 

York and their final report highlighted reasons leading to unreliability that included 
dwell time, ticketing, congestion of the road network and money in the capital 
programme.  Unfortunately, as was acknowledged by the chair of the Quality Bus 
Partnership when he met with this Committee in 2007, the issues relating to bus 
service unreliability are still very much the same today.  

 
24. Since this earlier work more evidence has emerged showing that bus usage overall 

has stagnated and perhaps even fallen more recently, and bus usage by fare 
paying customers has fallen significantly (from circa 86% of all passengers 2005/6 
to 77% last year).  Despite the offsetting benefits of free bus passes for older 
citizens and physical improvements by the Council, this can be attributed to wider 
economic circumstances and a series of substantial above inflation fare rises by the 
main operator in the city and more recent service cuts: 

 
 

Bus Patronage in York

0

2000000

4000000

6000000

8000000

10000000

12000000

14000000

16000000

18000000

20000000

2000/01 2001/02 2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11

B
u
s 
P
as
se
n
g
er
s

Bus Passengers (Target) Bus Passengers (Actual) Linear (Bus Passengers (Actual))

 
 

Page 33



 
 

Annex B 
 
 

 
 
 

First York Bus Fares 2003 to 2009 
 
 Feb 

2003 
April 
2004 

Jan 
2005 

July 
2005 

Jan 
2006 

Jan 
2007 

Jan 
2008 

Jan 
2009 

50p. Single £0.50 £0.50 £0.50 £0.60 £1.00 £1.10 £1.00 £1.00 
80p. Single £0.80 £0.85 £0.90 £1.00 £1.00 £1.10 £1.00 £1.00 
£1.00 Single £1.00 £1.05 £1.10 £1.20 £1.50 £1.60 £1.50 £1.60 
£1.20 Single £1.20 £1.25 £1.30 £1.40 £1.50 £1.60 £1.80 £1.90 
£1.40 Single £1.40 £1.45 £1.50 £1.60 £1.50 £1.60 £1.80 £1.90 
£1.70 Single £1.70 £1.75 £1.80 £1.90 £2.00 £2.20 £2.50 £2.70 
£1.90 Single £1.90 £1.90 £2.00 £2.10 £2.00 £2.20 £2.50 £2.70 
£1.50 Return £1.50 £1.60 £1.70 £1.90 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
£1.80 Return £1.80 £1.90 £2.00 £2.20 £2.50 £2.80 £2.90 £3.00 
Maximum Return N/A N/A N/A £2.30 £2.50 £2.80 £2.90 £3.00 
Child N/A £0.50 £0.50 £0.60 £1.00 £0.50 £0.50 £0.60 
Child return N/A N/A N/A N/A £1.50 £1.50 £1.50 £1.50 
£2.20 Day £2.20 £2.20 £2.30 £2.50 £3.00 £3.50 £3.50 £3.70 
£1.00 Day (child) £1.00 £1.00 £1.00 £1.20 £2.00 £2.00 £2.00 £2.00 
£10.50 Week £10.50 £10.50 £11.00 £11.00 £12.00 £13.00 £14.00 £15.00 
£40.00 Month £40.00 £40.00 £40.00 £40.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A 
4 weekly N/A N/A N/A N/A £40.00 £44.00 £47.00 £50.00 
Student 10 
journey 

N/A N/A N/A N/A £10.00 £11.00 N/A N/A 

Ordinary 10 
journey 

N/A N/A N/A N/A £13.00 £13.00 N/A N/A 

 
25. This stagnation in bus usage has being compounded by the recent service 

changes, a reduction in bus service routes, and changes in frequency, which have 
reduced the attractiveness of bus travel or in some cases and/or at some times 
removed the opportunity to use buses at all. The issue of relative cost and 
attractiveness of different forms of travel is partly a national issue and the balance 
between costs of public transport and private motoring has long been moving 
adversely.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



 
 

Annex B 
 

 
 

26. These overall trends are largely outside of local control, the one key exception 
being the relationship between car parking availability / charges and bus fares, on 
bus usage.   

 
27. This inter-relationship has long been recognised and was the basis for the 

Council’s previous transport and parking strategies following the MVA study in the 
late 1980s.  It was also the reason for the draft local plan policy T14a, limiting the 
number of city centre parking spaces to 5,100.  Council officers advise that there 
have been a number of new private sector car parks come into use, many 
unauthorised, bringing the number of available spaces in the city centre (as defined 
in the draft local plan) to 5,244, with other sites just outside.  Officers are taking 
enforcement action against these and against breaches of conditions on others 
regarding length of stays. 

 
28. Many of the private sector car parks are also much cheaper than the planning 

condition controlled Council car parks, increasing their attractiveness relative to bus 
fares, as indicated in the following graph: 

 
 
 

Page 35



 
 

Annex B 
 

9am occupancy rates at long stay car parks within York
Long stay = more than 5 hours

Occupancy rates and prices collected in Autumn 2008

UT

NL
PS

E

HM

MG CM
SGF

FB
MB

GB

MC

AB

WR

LT

KS

BR

HR PY

LR

SB

QS

TR

P
RS

S

LS

TC

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%
£0

.0
0

£0
.5
0

£1
.0
0

£1
.5
0

£2
.0
0

£2
.5
0

£3
.0
0

£3
.5
0

£4
.0
0

£4
.5
0

£5
.0
0

£5
.5
0

£6
.0
0

£6
.5
0

£7
.0
0

£7
.5
0

£8
.0
0

£8
.5
0

£9
.0
0

£9
.5
0

£1
0.
00

£1
0.
50

£1
1.
00

£1
1.
50

£1
2.
00

£1
2.
50

£1
3.
00

Maximum daily charge

O
cc
u
p
an
cy
 p
er
ce
n
ta
g
e

CYC car park CYC Park & Ride car park Privately owned car park

RB

DO

TBC

TBC

 
Abbreviations are as follows: 
 
AB Askham Bar 
BR Barbican Road 
CM Castle Mills 
DO Designer Outlet 
E Esplanade 
FB Foss Bank 
 

 
 
GB Grimston Bar 
HM Haymarket 
HR Haxby Road 
KS Kent Street 
LR Leeman Road 
LS Lawrence St 

 
 
LT Layerthorpe 
MB Monk Bar 
MC Monks Cross 
MG Marygate  
NL Nunnery Lane 
P Piccadilly 

 
 
PS Peel Street 
PY Piccadilly Yard 
QS Queen Street 
RB Rawcliffe Bar 
RS Railway Station 
S Shambles 

 
 
SB Stonebow 
SGF St. George's Field 
TC The Crescent 
TR Tanner Row 
UT Union Terrace 
WR Wigginton Road 

Graph does not 
include car parks 
with a capacity of 
less than 25 (of 
which there are 4 
No) as the figures 
from these 
smaller attractors 
would skew the 
overall result with 
a series of high 
occupancy rates. 

P
age 36



 
 

Annex B 
 

29. In the light of the close connection between parking, traffic, congestion levels and 
the impact on bus journey times and reliability, and the parallel connection 
between mode choice and relative pricing of park & ride, bus journeys and car 
park pricing, continuing care needs to be taken on ensuring local plan policies on 
car park availability and pricing are adhered to, and bus / park & ride fare levels 
together with car park charges are kept at a reasonable level, in line with each 
other. 

 
30. Economic Performance 

In 1995 it was reported2 that congestion cost the British economy £15 billion per 
year. This figure is now quoted at £20 billion per year (an estimated 461 billion 
vehicle kilometres per year3) and could reach £30 billion per year by 20104. The 
latest monthly national statistics on congestion on inter-urban roads in England5 
showed an average vehicle delay of 3.92 minutes per 10 miles.  
 

31. In 2007/08, the latest measured vehicle delay time in York were 3min 48sec per 
mile (at 1 million vehicle kilometres per 12hr period6). This suggests a congestion 
cost to York’s economy of £434,000 per year.  The recent Eddington Report for 
National Government reinforces concern on the escalating costs of traffic 
congestion and its impact on economic performance. 
 

32. The 2007 Future York Group Report7 analysed the York economy and proposed 
a series of recommendations for how York might prepare itself for meeting 
current and future competition. One of its particular recommendations for 
transport was to ‘Secure funds to enable the dualling of the northern outer ring 
road (ORR)’. Council policy for the outer ring road was set down in a report 
approved by the Planning and Transport EMAP in July 2005. The basis of that 
report was a study undertaken by Halcrow to assess the current and future 
operation of the route and proposed options for addressing congestion. The 
study determined that congestion was principally caused by the restricted 
capacity of the junctions and the links had adequate capacity for the projected 
demand.  As a result of the findings in the report, Council approved the following 
motion on 28th June 2008: 

 
“The City of York Council will seek immediate discussions, between the Leaders 
of the ruling & main opposition parties with the Secretary of State for Transport, 
to request the provision of funding, at the earliest opportunity, to upgrade 
junctions and other aspects of the York Northern Ring Road, for the benefit of all 
road users. The City of York Council requests this increased funding in the light 
of the Future York report, and recent Government proposals to increase housing 
and economic development planning targets for York, which have increased the 
need for urgent additional public investment, via the Regional Funding Allocation 
or other funding opportunities, to pay for major improvements to transport 
systems in the City. Such discussions should recognise that any upgrading of the 

                                            
2 ‘Moving forward – a business strategy for transport’ CBI 1995 
3 IAM motoring facts 2008 
4 The economic costs of road traffic congestion, ESRC Transport Studies Unit, 2004 
5 Department for Transport for the year ending May 2008 
6 City of York Local Transport Plan 2006-2011, Table 8, Indicator 3B 
7 The Future York Group Report – An Independent strategic Review of the York Economy  

Page 37



 
 

Annex B 
 

ring road will be part of a comprehensive approach to traffic management in the 
whole city, as part of a programme of overall traffic reduction and sustainable 
transport priority within the A1237/A64 ring, while also protecting York's 
economic success and ensuring the protection of its environment.”  

 
33. A subsequent report went to the Executive on 23 September 2008 presenting the 

results of a study of the projected performance of the outer ring road, and 
providing options for improvements to be included in a proposed Access York 
Phase 2 bid to the Regional Transport Board (RTB).   The report sought approval 
in principle for the submission of the bid to the RTB.  The bid was only partially 
successful and has been placed in the post 2014 priority scheme list for which 
there is currently no funding allocation. 

 
34. Quality of Life 

Evidence shows that traffic flow affects social interaction.  For example, residents 
living alongside roads which experience high levels of motorised traffic are much 
less likely to make friends and acquaintances with others living in their road, 
compared to those living in areas with low traffic levels. Add to this the affects of 
noise pollution and poor air quality and the affect traffic can have on quality of life  
becomes clear. 

 
35. In 2000, The World Health Organisation agreed guidelines for Community Noise, 

recognising that noise levels can have adverse effects on health causing 
annoyance, sleep disturbance, interference with communication, thereby 
affecting performance, productivity and human development.  In children, noise 
can have a chronic adverse effect on cognitive development, memory, reading, 
and motivation.  Health targets for Transport, Environment & Health set by 
Central Government aim to protect existing quiet areas, promote quietness and 
reverse the increase in noise pollution by introducing noise emission measures, 
and the Government is due to consult shortly on a Noise Strategy as a result of 
an EU noise directive.  In addition, air pollution can have psychophysiological 
effects, mainly cardiovascular e.g. ischaemic heart disease, hypertension and 
stress.  

 
36. Choices in mode of transport can also have a long-term effect on health and 

quality of life.  For example, evidence shows a clear correlation between a fall in 
obesity levels with increased walking, cycling and use of public transport: 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

US
A

Ca
na
da

Un
ite
d K

ing
do
m

Fr
an
ce

Ita
ly

Ge
rm
an
y

Sw
ed
en

Au
str
ia

Ne
the
rla
nd
s

Sw
itz
erl
an
d

De
nm
ark

P
er
ce
nt
 o
f O
be
si
ty

0
10
20
30
40
50
60

P
er
ce
nt
 o
f W

al
k,
 C
yc
le
 a
nd
 P
ub
lic
 

T
ra
ns
it

Obesity Walk, Cycle, Public Transit

Page 38



 
 

Annex B 
 

 
37. Road Safety 

Many advances have been made in reducing road accidents, particularly for 
‘Killed or Serious Injury’ accidents (KSIs). LTP2 aims to reduce KSIs by a further 
45% and a recent progress report showed that York is on track to meet this 
target.  Evidence presented to the Committee showed a clear correlation between 
overall accidents and volume of traffic during weekday peaks in York, particularly 
linked to motorist/pedestrian and cyclist conflict. However it was difficult to 
establish an accurately quantifiable link between traffic levels and accidents, as 
increased congestion can result in lower traffic speeds, hence lower KSI risk. 
Paradoxically, pedestrians may be willing to behave in a more unsafe manner to 
be able to cross a more busy road.   
 

38. The Committee were generally satisfied with the Council’s current strategy for 
tackling accidents, although there was little evidence of adequate police 
enforcement of traffic offences outside of the county’s trunk road network, or of 
the police and the Council having consistent or common traffic and enforcement 
strategies.  The Committee therefore felt a stronger education and publicity 
campaign was needed, within a ‘Considerate Road User’ framework, backed up 
by more effective enforcement arrangements.  This is also important to tackling 
perceptions of danger for cyclists and pedestrians referred to earlier in paragraph 
17.  

 
39. Other Impediments to Traffic Flow 
 Officers also identified a number of other impediments to traffic flow not listed in 

the objectives of this review which contribute to congestion.  The Committee took 
time to look at these in order to fully understand all of the factors facing the city  

 
40. Utility & Roadworks on the Highway - From April 2008 the Traffic Management 

Act will require us to notify the co-ordination team of small scale works on the 
highway such as reactive maintenance.  This should aid the management of the 
network and minimise the disruption. 
 

41. Accidents on the Highway - The Police have a major influence upon the 
management of road traffic accidents as they take the responsibility for the 
scene.  Whilst we have reasonable levels of communication with the Police there 
is room for improvement in co-ordinating the joint response. 
 

42. Junctions - Where a junction has been improved as much as is practically 
possible, the only way of reducing congestion further rests on finding ways of 
either encouraging, or forcing, less traffic to use the roads linked to the junction. 
 

43. Signals / Crossings - This committee recognised a number of sites where the 
type of crossing in situ was not necessarily the ideal type for the location.  The 
adaptation or upgrading of some of the older signals to puffin signals would be 
ideal but costly dependant on the age and type of the crossing already in place. 
 

44. On Street Parking - There are approximately 267km of waiting restrictions on 
our existing highways that are regularly patrolled for enforcement by the 
Council’s Parking Services.  As inconsiderate and illegal parking is a major 

Page 39



 
 

Annex B 
 

source of interruption to the flow of traffic on the Network, more enforcement is 
required particularly outside schools and within their local vicinity, and At other 
hotspots where there are frequent delays e.g. on bus routes. 
 

45. Public Events - Any additions to the current use of Intelligent Transport Systems 
that alter traffic signal timings and advise traffic of congested areas would be of 
benefit to the city utilised on major routes into the city to better manage traffic. 
 

46. Education Related Travel - School related travel can account for up to 20% of 
traffic during school term times.  In fact, one out of every four cars on the road in 
the morning rush hour in York is on the school run. Work is ongoing in schools to 
minimise the impact of the “school run” by encouraging alternative modes of 
transport such as walking and cycling, and work is also in progress to ensure 
each school has its own travel plan.   
 

47. Travel Plans - All developments over a certain size had to have a travel plan but 
as circumstances change the travel plan do not necessarily change with them.  
There are well established companies and businesses in the City that do  
congestion within the City; maybe more so than the school run.  The Council 
could do more to encourage the development of, and use of travel plans in the 
private sector by leading by example. 
 

48. Inner City Goods Deliveries - The restricted hours for delivery i.e. outside 
Pedestrian hours leads to a concentrated number of delivery vehicles clogging up 
the city centre streets.  This in turn has a negative affect on pedestrians in the 
form of a greater potential for accidents and poor air quality from stationary traffic.  
There is also an issue with parking on main arterial roads during peak traffic 
times.   
 

49. Establishing a more extensive ‘toolkit’ to tackle congestion  
The Committee were briefed on the Council’s DTMC system and identified that 
the Council’s Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy has a central role to play in 
the development of transport in the city and will be vital in meeting the aims in 
LTP2 (and beyond) through both management of the City’s road signalling 
network and information systems.  It also has the potential to: 
 
• promote public transport and cut car use by improving journey reliability for 

buses; 
• provide better public transport & traffic information through a wide range of 

electronic media e.g. mobile phones and display screens;   
• provide more accurate real time information; 
• enhance the functionality of traffic signals through the ‘Freeflow’ project 

 
50.    Summary of Findings from City-Wide Consultation  
 A summary of the findings from the city-wide consultation survey carried out as 

part of this review is shown at Annex E.  The Committee’s analysis of these 
findings are shown at paragraphs 24-27 of Annex C. 

Page 40



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

 
Analysis of Information Gathered 

 
1. As a result of all of the information gathered during this review, the Committee 

have recognised the following: 
 
2. Expected Increase in Traffic in York  

Over the period of the City’s first Local Transport Plan (2001-2006) peak-hour 
traffic flows remained very close to 1999 flows which played a part in the 
council's Network Management Service achieving an 'excellent' grading from the 
Department for Transport (DfT), for securing the expeditious movement of traffic 
on its road network.  Although the indicator for peak hour traffic showed traffic 
levels being fairly constant between 1999 and 2006, the indicator hides the 
growth in traffic levels either side of the peak hour resulting from people 
commuting either earlier or later to avoid roads running at full (or over) capacity 
in the peak hour (see figures and graphs in paragraph 7 of final report). 
 

3. Nationally, traffic growth between 1996 and 2025 could be in the range 52-82%1 
although recent actual levels show traffic growth at the lower rate.  Officers 
estimate that York could face a 27% rise in traffic from the 2003-4 position to 
2020-21.  Due to the geographical and physical constraints within the 
Authority’s area and the city’s historic character, it is not possible to provide 
additional highway capacity at anything like the rate at which demand is 
increasing, and this has necessitated York’s integrated approach to the 
provision of transport infrastructure since the 1987/88 MVA study, through to 
LTP1 and LTP2. 

 
4. The property price boom over the past decade, the recent low levels of family 

housing construction in York, and the dispersion of businesses to the outskirts 
of the city, have made it increasingly difficult to live near to places of 
employment.  This added to the expansion of car ownership and an historic 
relative decrease in motoring costs, has led to greater population dispersion.  
Recent figures show that 22,500 workers commute into York from surrounding 
areas and 17,000 travel out of the city for work.  The need to relocate to more 
peripheral locations has necessitated longer journeys to work, which are often 
less suited to non-car options.  Outside the main urban area, journeys are 
becoming increasingly more difficult to serve by public transport due to their 
varied nature, serving a wider number of origins and destinations, along with 
reduced opportunities to satisfy needs locally due to a lack of local facilities and 
funding to provide public transport services. 

 
5. The predictions for York were established on the basis of housing and 

employment growth contained in the Draft Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS).  
These have since been superseded by higher levels of growth, as detailed in 
the full RSS published in May 2008.  Employment growth is now expected to 
outstrip housing provision, thereby, leading to more and longer commutes into 
the city. 

 

                                            
1 Source IAM motoring facts 2008 

Page 41



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

6. The Local Transport Plan 2006-2011 (LTP2) 
In March 2006, the Council published its second Local Transport Plan (LTP2) 
covering the period 2006 – 2011, setting out the council’s aspirations and 
proposed measures for transport over a 5 year period within the context of a 15 
year horizon.  The strategy in LTP2 for tackling congestion was to build upon the 
successes already achieved by LTP1 (2001-2006) and deal with the pressures 
from the growth in the economy.  LTP2 predicted that, in the absence of its 
proposed package of measures, traffic levels would rise by 14% by 2011 with a 
further doubling to 28% by 2021.  The strategy proposed in LTP2 (as 
summarised in Annex Ag) sought to limit this growth to 7% by 2011.  
 

7. The key proposals identified in the LTP2 are to:  
 
• increase the capacity of the Outer Ring Road (ORR) thereby reducing 

congestion in the city centre and creating road space to reallocate to 
buses, cyclists and pedestrians;  

• provision of an orbital and cross city bus network – a viable and reliable 
orbital bus route will only be possible as a result of improvements to the 
ORR junctions; 

• provide additional Park & Ride sites to intercept traffic on all main radials - 
the Council recently had a £20.8m bid approved by the Regional Transport 
Board, for inclusion within the Regional Funding Allocation programme to 
construct two new park and ride sites, one on A59, Harrogate Road at 
Poppleton and the other on the B1363, Wigginton Road together with a 
relocation of the Askham Bar site to a new site that will allow additional 
spaces and facilities to be provided.  Each of these sites could also utilise 
the potential for a tram/train halt.  The total cost of the scheme is £26.4m 
and will take an additional 0.5million car journeys off York’s roads within 
the outer ring road, each year; 

 
•  manage demand through parking control and possibly access restrictions 

in the city centre; 
 
• a further package of soft measures aimed at improving road safety, air 

quality, accessibility, safe routes to school, health and well being as well as 
enhancing education and the economy. 

 
• Enable the Council to meet its principal network management duty under 

the Traffic Management Act to secure the expeditious movement of traffic 
on their road networks.   

 
8. Impact of LTP2 

The maps in Annex A show that even with the congestion tackling measures 
included in LTP2, by 2011 there will be many principal roads in York where 
capacity will have reached and/or exceeded 85% during peak travel times, 
leading to reduced or no free flow. For example, traffic levels on the A1237 
which forms the western and northern sections of the outer ring road have 
increased by more than 50% over the last 15 years which has resulted in heavy 

Page 42



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

congestion during peak periods, particularly on its junctions with radial routes. 
Similarly there has been a significant increase in congestion on the inner ring 
road and its approach roads, and, unless extensive measures are put into place, 
this inexorable rise in traffic is likely to continue. In addition, off peak and 
weekend traffic levels are increasing faster than ever before.  By 2021, the 
projections are worse having taken into account the additional traffic from future 
employment and residential developments in York at University Campus 3, 
Germany Beck, Derwenthorpe, York Northwest, and Hungate.   

 
9. Since the production of LTP2, other major land developments have been 

proposed and these are at various stages of planning e.g. York Northwest 
(comprising York Central and the former British Sugar works), Nestles and the 
Terry’s site.  Individually any one of these would have a significant impact on 
the local transport infrastructure with citywide effects, but when taken together 
could result in a major change in the city’s travel patterns and demand for 
transport infrastructure.  Therefore, it is clear that any additional development 
across the city in the coming years will worsen the significant adverse affects of 
the current high congestion levels, and/or require the curtailment of the scale of 
those developments and possible negative consequences for the future 
economic well being of the city (witness the 2008 Terry’s factory site 
application). 

 
10. Developments in the council’s response and plans have moved on since LTP2 

i.e.  toward the end of LTP2 and beyond, the intermediate plans are to:  
 

• implement ‘Access York Phase 1’;  
• develop further proposals for the outer ring road  
• investigate the feasibility of utilising tram-train technology. 
• Continue demand restraint measures, including extensive bus priority 

measures and access restrictions into the city with priority for buses, 
combined with sufficiently high parking charges at council controlled city 
centre public car parks and resident parking only restrictions in adjacent 
city centre residential streets. 

 
11. Beyond LTP2 

The Committee recognised that although LTP2 and the Access York measures 
seek to continue and build upon the measures in LTP1, it is unlikely to be 
enough in the longer term, as many measures have achieved or are close to 
achieving their maximum potential for restricting traffic growth at the level of 
investment to date.  In fact, the modelling of the additional measures show they 
will only palliate and not eliminate the increase in congestion.  Therefore 
additional congestion tackling measures will be required to complement and 
work alongside those already included in LTP2 and extend beyond, particularly if 
doubling York’s economy by 2026 is to be realised, and the expected rise in 
congestion levels are to be halted.   

 
12. Policy Driving Changes & Available Funding 

Since 1997 central government has sought, through various white papers and 
the local transport plan system, to promote more sustainable and healthy travel 
by widening transport choice and reducing reliance on the private car. At a 

Page 43



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

national level, more expansive programmes, such as the Transport Innovation 
Fund (TIF), offer significant funding to develop and implement innovative 
‘package’ solutions for tackling congestion (£290m in 2008-09 rising to £2550m 
by 2014-15). However, the current inference from Government is that a TIF 
package must contain some form of road user charging measure for it to be 
considered, as evidenced by the following statement to Parliament by the 
Secretary of State for Transport on 5th July 2005: 
 
 “The Fund will also be used to support local plans which will help tackle 
congestion. We are looking for proposals which combine some form of demand 
management such as road pricing, with better public transport. These pilot 
schemes will contribute to our work on national road pricing”  
 

13. A recent Government discussion paper ‘Towards a Sustainable Transport 
System’ (October 2007) endorses the views contained within the Eddington 
Transport Review, for a targeted approach to the most seriously congested 
parts of the urban, national and international networks, and that an innovative 
approach which makes the most of existing networks through good regulation, 
sending the right signals to users and transport providers, is likely to be just as 
important as further investment in new infrastructure.  Consequently, the 
Government has reviewed the guidance to local authorities on the preparation 
of LTPs to ensure that it reflects both the Eddington priorities and the findings 
from the review of the take up of ‘Smarter Choices’ in LTPs (published June 
2008). 
 

14. The regional and local planning framework is described in more detail in 
Background Paper:  5  –  Summary of Regional and Local Transport Policy. 
 

15. It is extremely unlikely that this authority’s future LTP allocations will be 
sufficient to further develop and implement an innovative package solution.  
Therefore for this Council to secure additional funding from TIF, we would need 
to work up a package to address congestion that includes some form of more 
radical demand management.  However, the Committee recognise that even 
though the inclusion of road pricing is most likely to attract TIF funding and 
generate a revenue income, there were significant questions to be answered 
i.e.: 

 
• the revenue collection and scheme operation costs would need to be 

accurately assessed to determine if such a scheme was viable and 
sustainable 

• the various impacts on business and local residents would need to be 
examined in detail, including any mitigation measures required 

• timing issues of improvements to public transport and other alternatives 
• public acceptability 
 

16. The Committee also recognised that the implementation of any scheme would 
be unlikely to occur before the middle to end of the next decade from a scheme 
development and delivery viewpoint alone, which equally highlights the need for 
advance decision making. 

 

Page 44



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

17. Broad Strategic Options Available  
In February 2008, the Committee received a paper on the strategic options 
available to the Council, which suggested a number of scenarios which could 
complement LTP2 to further reduce congestion in the city.  Those scenarios are 
shown in detail in Annex D in increasing order of complexity, cost and 
contribution to reducing congestion. For example, the intermediate plans shown 
above in paragraph 10, would go part if not all of the way to realising scenarios 
5, 6 and 10 (see Annex D).   
 

18. Before considering the evaluation of the scenarios, it is worth noting that a partly 
similar exercise2 was commissioned by the Yorkshire and Humber Regional 
Assembly, in the context of the Climate Change Agenda. This modelled a series 
of interventions to identify ‘practicable, deliverable measures within the scope of 
regional transport policy that would deliver a reduction in the emissions of 
carbon dioxide from transport across the region.’ In doing this however, no 
resource limitations were applied, and no adjustments for political will were 
made (in passing, it concluded that even with an extensive package of 
interventions, any change of direction in carbon emissions would not come 
close to achieving the desired level of reduction).  For the purposes of this 
review, a similar outcome is likely, in that although the apparent inexorable rise 
in congestion can not be reversed, it can only be stemmed.  

 
19. It is recognised that the effects of these scenarios on congestion are only 

officer’s considered opinions at the present time and do not have the benefit of 
rigorous analysis. In order to confirm these effects (or otherwise) the scenarios 
will need to be subjected to further modelling and evaluation. Therefore a 
recommendation of this review will be that the Executive release sufficient 
funding for the optimal solutions to be worked up and tested. 
 

20. Long Term Vision for Transport In York 
The Vision’ for York as contained within the Sustainable Community Strategy 
states that we will make our mark by: 
 
• Building confident, creative and inclusive communities 
• Being a leading environmentally friendly city 
• Being at the forefront of innovation and change with a prosperous and 

thriving economy 
• Being a world class centre for education and learning for all 
• Celebrating our historic past whilst creating a successful and thriving future 

 
21. The Committee, whilst recognising and supporting this overall vision, note that 

transport is almost omitted from it.  The Committee strongly believe that given 
the massive challenge of rising traffic and congestion levels, the scale of 
response required, and residents high priority for tackling congestion, the City 
should have a complimentary long-term vision for transport as suggested below:   

 
‘A city which has transformed itself in traffic terms and reasserted its human 
scale and environmental credentials, through its residents being able and 

                                            
2 Achieving low carbon and sustainable transport systems in Yorkshire and the Humber 

Page 45



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

positively choosing to travel less by car and more by bicycle, foot and public 
transport with little delay, so as to be individually healthier and collectively to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and improve local air quality, noise levels and 
quality of life, and where business, leisure and other activity is thriving because 
of good affordable quality and easy access by a choice of travel modes’’. 
 

22. At the end of this review, the Committee intend to make a recommendation to 
the Executive that they adopt this long-term vision, bearing in mind that York is 
part of the Leeds City Region and York’s vision may ultimately be influenced by 
the Leeds City Region Vision and/or Multiple Area Agreement. 

 
23. The Committee have also recognised the key importance of a vastly improved 

public transport service within this and suggest the following subsidiary vision 
for public transport: 

 
‘By 2026 York is benefiting from one of the best and most popular local bus 
services in the country outside London, offering a seamless passenger 
experience, with a single competitively priced ticketing system, high frequency 
daytime services to all key destinations in the city, recognised interchange 
points with well timetabled connections where bus transfer is required, non 
carbon fuelled fully disabled accessible vehicles, friendly and welcoming staff 
who drive considerately of passengers and other road users, good bus stop 
facilities and reliable interactive timetable information.’ 

 
24. Survey of York Residents 

The committee considered the findings from the city-wide residents survey in 
terms of a long term strategy, which showed that Option C (as detailed in Annex 
D) was the most favoured. It was however noted that the options with varying 
elements of charging (A, B & D) received more support between them – see 
analysis at Annex E. They were concerned to see that both men and women in 
the over 55 age group were not open to radically changing their behaviour in 
relation to modes of travel. This highlighted the Committee’s view that a major 
cultural change in the city is required, and the council would need to address 
that as they had previously recommended.   
 

25. The Committee recognised that without significant government funding many of 
the more expensive individual elements within Option C would not be 
deliverable, but the less expensive elements could be fed into future Local 
Transport Plans, and, priority should be given, in line with resident’s views given 
in response to the question, with top priority for investing in supporting local bus 
services to improve their availability, quality and frequency for travel around the 
city. The Committee acknowledged that the rail element of Options C & D were 
particularly costly, had low benefit, and should therefore have low priority if 
funding fell short.   
 

26. The Committee agreed that the Council should seek to progress Option C – 
Restricting Congestion without charging (based round encouraging walking, 
cycling and travelling by bus for journeys less than 5 miles, including improving 
cycle routes in the City and expanding the cycle network, investing in supporting 
local bus services to improve their availability, quality and frequency for travel 

Page 46



 
 
 

Annex C 
 

around the city, investing in rail services for longer distance commuting, 
including new technologies such as tram-trains, including more restrictive 
parking policies and access restrictions and reallocating road space to buses, 
cycles and pedestrians, investing in additional park and ride on Wetherby road, 
establishing a freight transhipment depot on the outskirts of the city, investing in 
the northern and western outer ring road junction improvements to relieve  
through city traffic). In order to develop Option C further, the Committee agreed 
that further work on both the scope and delivery of the individual elements 
within that option and the optimum overall package should be initiated, in on-
going consultation with York residents and businesses, leading up to an 
application for government funding to whatever major funding arrangement the 
new Government eventually agreed.    

 
27.   Should any application for funding fail, the Committee agreed that officers 

should be instructed to examine other innovative and creative ways in which to 
deliver this strategy to obtain maximum traffic reduction. 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



Annex C

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 Bus routes currently reviewed every five years (now
due) but would benefit from more regular reviews to
react to changes in the location of services, new
businesses and housing developments, etc

Continued close working with the Quality Bus
Partnership to encourage improvements in the bus
service

Better bus service overall, with increased usage,
but possible positive & negative effects in
particular localities. Possible alterations in subsidy
levels by CYC for socially necessary bus services
in York.

Undertake an urgent review of the Council's bus strategy 
to see how the current stagnation in overall bus usage, 
decline in non-concessionary usage, and in the 
conventional bue network can be reversed - see 
Recommendation xi

2 Gaps in bus services would be reduced if the
number of buses in use during ‘school run’ times
was increased & bus priority & congestion reduction
measures were introduced to release the extra 10%
of buses required to cope with current congestion
delays

Continued close working with the Quality Bus
Partnership to encourage improvements in the bus
service

Better peak service but potentially substantial
additional costs for extra vehicles, and demand
for increased subsidy by CYC for the bus services
in York, unless 'congestion penalty' removed (see
section 'v') 

3 Identifying under used bus services and
implementing soft measures to encourage their use
to ensure their viability & continuation

Offer discounted tickets and look at extending
frequency of services to make them more attractive

Possible costs to the Council but in the long term
increased revenue for bus companies

4 Improved interchange points are needed in the city
centre

Need to improve quantity and quality of bus
shelters

Cost to CYC's LTP2 / Capital programme, plus
maintenance budgets (offset by any extra
advertising income)

5 Extending the Park & Ride service would improve
access to York Hospital outside of peak hours

New P&R type service from Clifton Moor to hospital
and then Station for interchange 

Relief of congestion and parking problemsat
hospital

Ensure the extension of Park & Ride services to include 
York District Hospital - see Recommendation xi

6 Need to make better use of taxis as part of a
complementary public transport strategy, especially
late night when there are taxi availability problems
on busy nights. There is still also only limited DDA
compliant vehicles in the fleet 

Improved safety measures for taxis eg CCTV in
Cars would encourage greater use and offer
increased protection to drivers & passengers
particularly at night. Allow additional DDA
compliant taxi licences

Capital cost to taxi proprietors. Potentially more
passengers particularly at night and greater
opportunity for disabled people to obtain
appropriate vehicles

Council to drive through early implementation of full DDA 
compliance for all Council vehicles and council procured 
bus services and CCTV in taxis and private hire vehicles - 
see Recommendation xiii

7 Need to publicise and spread good practices by
employers across the city i.e. Travel Plans as many
well established businesses do not have travel
plans  - Council to follow up their implementation

1) CYC to lead by example i.e. by implementing
own Travel Plan 2) Publicity and
promotion - low cost measure which could have
significant benefit

Influencing Council staff's travel to work mode,
and public and employer attitudes to how the
journey to work is undertaken, thereby spreading
the benefit and achieving modal shift and reducing 
peak hours congestion. 

Reinvigorate ' Travel Plans' and ensurethey are 
implemented, monitored and periodically updated - see 
Recommendation v

8 Making tourism more sustainable a tourist tax with monies collected being used in
total to deal with accessibility issues

Possible impact on competitiveness - legality and
basis for any such tax

9 Additional mapping work is required over and above 
that which was planned as part of LTP2 to show the
positive effects on traffic congestion in York of the
measures identified as a result of this review 

Carry out additional mapping works Clearer view of accessibility issues in the City,
and better focus of future plans (bus services,
cycle & walking routes, etc.) on where the most
difference can be made. However any additional
work would have an impact on staffing resources
and other priorities.

Commission a detailed study of a future Transport Strategy 
to 2021 and beyond based around preferred scenario(s)  - 
see Recommendation ii

Table of Issues/Findings, Identified Solutions, Possible Impacts & Draft Recommendations

Objectives (i) - Accessibility to Services, Employment, Education & Health Services
Issue/Findings

P
age 49



Annex C

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 Road transport accounts for 49% of total emissions
of Nitroen Oxides.  Mandatory EU limits for Nitrogen 
Dioxide (NO2) & particulates (PM10) are due to
come into force in 2010

2 The number, type and age of vehicles on York
roads is relevant to the levels of pollutants
recorded. The big polluters are lorries & buses, &
older vehicles generally.

3 York has 10 to 15 exceedences of PM10 which is
well below the government objective of 35
exceedences allowed per year 

unless there are major changes in York the levels
of PM10 are at an acceptable level and therefore
there is no solution required

Understanding  of potential problem

4 PM2.5 which represent the most dangerous
elements, are measured at a national level and not
by Local Authorities at present, and therefore there
is no record of the level of PM2.5 in York. 

Officers confirmed that, if required, they could
undertake a short term project at minimal cost to
measure levels of PM2.5 in the city.

5 Rise in polution since 2006, believed to be due to
increased traffic linked to the opening of new car
parks and the reducing differential between car
park fees and bus fares

1.Implement a Low Emission Zone in &      around 
City Centre                                                            
2. Introduce a local freight transhipment centre 
(see section iii)                                                   

Extra costs to businesses and operators from
rerouting, and to Council in terms of scheme costs

Undertake a  review of the Air Quality Management Plan 
with a view to taking more radical action to eliminate te 
health risks associated with York's NO2 hotspots by the EU 
deadline of 2010 - see 

There are five technical breach areas around York's
city centre; linked to NO2 levels
Fishergate

3.Relocate queues using UTMC                           
transfers problem rather than solves it
Improves Air quality for residents I breach areas

 Recommendation xviii

Lawrence Street 4.  Obtain modal shift to bring back within limits Cuts traffic and improves AQ for residents in
breach areas

Gillygate
Nunnery Lane                                                             
Holgate

7 Balance shift from petrol to diesel engines in local
car fleet

8 Fulford Main Street is one area of concern outside
of the city centre
Air Quality threats:
Current and future car parking policies
Ongoing large scale developments i.e. Germany
Beck, Derwenthorpe, York Northwest, University
Campus 3, & Terrys
Dispersed retail, employment & other trip
generators of very high car movements
Proposed changes to CYC staff travel incentives
Workplace parking in private sector
Climate change policies
Changes to local bus fleet & older buses
Lack of funding for measures to tackle

5.Road Pricing
Leaves local residents breathing unsafe air with
consequential impacts on health and quality of life

Undertake a short term project to measure levels of most 
harmful PM2.5 carcinogen carrying particles to understand 
if there is a problem in York - see Recommendation xix

Objectives (ii) - Air Quality -  in particular looking at the five hotspots identified in the LTP2

Issue/Findings

9

6

6.Await long term effect of vehicle stock turnover
due to more lower emission vehicles

P
age 50



Annex C

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 Reducing the environmental impact of freight
transport in the City.

Provision of a transhipment centre outside the City, 
thus  transferring the environmental impact outside 
of the city centre where it may be of lesser 
concern.   The introduction of a transhipment 
centre is a low priority at the moment, but is worth 
examination in the future and should not be 
dismissed.  

Reduction in the number of large delivery vehicles
to, from and in the city centre, reducing
congestion and air pollution and improving the
pedestrian area, but there is significant evidence
that it would not be self financing and would
require substantial local authority subsidy, and
may meet resistance from businesses.

In regard to freight, the Council to:
· Continue to keep the issue of providing a freight 
transhipment centre for the City under review if a suitable 
site and funding mechanisms come forward
· Lobby government (national and EU) to improve 
standards for HGV engine efficiency and emissions
· Ensure council owned and partners vehicle fleets, and 
tendered delivery vehicles move rapidly towards the most 
up to date emission and efficiency standards
- see Recommendation xxv

2 York has a high level of short commuting trips (56%
were less than 5km in 2001)   

Campaigns needed to encourage modal shift - may
need to review bus routes and timings and provide
improved journey advice. Need to promote
sustainable travel and individual journey planning
(e.g. smart choice initiative)

Officer view & evidence from Sustainable Towns
& Cycling, Demonstration Towns is that Smart
Choice Schemes are very effective

Fund the early development of a comprehensive 'Smart 
Choice' package including personalised journey planning to 
maximise modal shift - see Recommendation v

3 Cycling's share of the travel market in York has
remained largely static in recent years due to the
perception of safety, lack of secure parking facilities
and shower and changing facilities, and lack of
confidence in York roads

Additional soft measures should be introduced to
encourage walking and cycling over and above
those initiatives included in LTP2 

Should achieve real modal shift and a reduction in
traffic congestion and air pollution. Impact on
resources and budget and other priorities.
Comparable european cities show much larger
cycling share than York                                                                  

The Council should reinvigorate cycling in York using the 
‘Cycling City’ initiative and funding by:                                                  
·       tackling key gaps in the network and difficult locations 
i.e. bridges, key radials and junctions, as identified by the 
2003/4 cycling scrutiny review but as yet not implemented

4 It is at least 5 years since a cycling campaign was
run in York.

Further campaigns could be investigated if
resources could be identified, including a
'Considerate Road User' campaing as suggested
by the previous Cycling Scrutiny Panel

Providing good cycling facilities involves a trade
off with other road users

•       improving planning processes to ensure adequate 
consideration is given in new designs to cycling                                                                                   
·       relaunching the Cycling Forum with a view to giving 
stakeholders the opportunity to shape future cycling 
policies and proposals, and to encourage 

5 Gaps in City Centre cycle network identified by
previous Cycling Scrutiny Panel still not addressed

 partnership work                                                                  
- see Recommendation xvi                                                                          

6 Cycling facilities across York bridges are an issue in 
general

Tackle road safety issues and help to make roads more 
attractive to green modes by undertaking ‘Considerate 
Road User’ campaigns - see Recommendations xv

7 Cycling related target set as part of LTP2 regarding
new developments over 0.4Ha to contribute either
financially or physically to pedestrian, cycle or
public transport networks

Threshold levels should be reviewed to bring them
in line

The Cycling Champion for York to:                                     
•       ensure cycling measures are focused around what will 
make a difference                                                                       
·       promote considerate road user behaviour (including 
by cyclists)

8 Although buses are not the cleanest vehicles,
continuing to try and keep fleets up to date, with low
emissions and using optimum fuels is the best way
forward for public transport

Continued close working with the Quality Bus
Partnership to encourage improvements in the bus
service

Increased subsidy by CYC for the bus services in
York. Evidence that well over inflation price rises
are reducing bus usage -assume converse
applies

·       engage the business community to encourage the 
provision of cycling facilities for both employees and 
visitors/customers                                                                
- see Recommendation xvii

9 Use of mass transit systems e.g. conventional light
rail (cost £10m/km), ultra light rail (cost £3-4m/km)
and guided systems (cost £1m/km) are all seen as
unaffordable in the York context

tram trains on existing rail lines, otherwise bus
based solutions continue to be the only practicable
deliverable option

Objective (iii) - Alternative Environmentally viable and financially practical methods of transport

Issue/Findings

York could take advantage of future funding and
technical advice to be made available by Cycle
England in an effort to provide cycling facilities
which are attractive to cyclists.

P
age 51



Annex C

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 The transport sector, including aviation, produces
about one quarter of the Uks total carbon
emissions. Road transport accounts for 85% of
this.

 Fund the development of a comprehensive ‘Smart Choice’ 
package including personalised journey planning to 
maximise modal shift, including a re-invigoration of ‘Green 
Travel Plans’ and ensure they are implemented, monitored 
and periodically updated - see Recommendation v

2 The biggest vehicle polluters are HGVs and buses,
which account for 42% of the carbon emitted by
transport

3 By 2010 transport is expected to be the largest
single contributor to EU greenhouse gas emissions

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 Need to improve the public's perception of bus
reliability. Congestion is prime cause of delays
along with bus boarding times and inappropriate
timetabling. Potentially, 10% of fleet are required to
deal with this. Dwell time - operators could do more
to improve boarding times

Timetables should be revised to more closely
reflect actual journey times, particularly at peak
times and on less frequent routes. More off bus
ticket purchase & on bus conductors

Greater public confidence in timetables and use of
bus services. Speeding up of service boarding
allowing quicker, more reliable & therefore more
attractive services especially at peak times.
However concerns that off bus discounted journey
tickets discourage occassional/less well off users

Local bus companies to be requested to continue to revise 
bus timetables to provide more accurate and credible 
timings and work to them - see Recommendation xi                                                         
Quality Bus Partnership to be requested to examine and 
action ways of improving bus boarding times, whilst 
avoiding penalising occasional and less well off bus users - 
see Recommendation xii  

2 Journey times are affected by delivery vehicles in
the city centre

better 'policing' of delivery vehicles required. Need 
to look at current restrictions to see if 
improvements can be made and work with 
businesses to ensure they direct their delivery 
vehicles to the correct/appropriate places

Improved bus flow, greater reliability and
increased bus usage.

4 BLISS system data often inaccurate and not all
buses in York are BLISS enabled. Cost of installing
the BLISS system on a bus route is in the region of
£10k, and is 4 years behind schedule. Only some
routes are covered

Seek agreement with bus operators to convert all
vehicles and roll out additional signs

Better public perception of signing system and
bus operation, more informed choices and
probable increased bus usage. Cost of additional
BLISS measures and delay to lower priority
measures

Review the operation and delivery of the BLISS real time 
bus information display system and agree a 
comprehensive programme for its early roll out across the 
whole network, with local bus operators - see 
Recommendation xii

5 Quality Bus Partnership not functioning as intended Reinvigorate partnership, identify forward
programme of measures and look at 'Quality
Improvement Partnership' (QIP)

To bring focus to Council and operators actions
and investment

Support City Strategy & bus operators to reinvigorate 
Quality Bus Partnership - see Recommendation xii

6 Limited scope for provision of additional bus lanes
in York and operation of bus lanes is dependant on
non-existant police enforcement

Identify where measures are possible including
queue relocation measures, and seek police
enforcement commitment. Identifying bottlenecks
and re-locating bus stops would help to reduce
congestion and improve bus reliability

Effectiveness of exisitng schemes such as on the
Mount in speeding up bus services & better
situation on Red Routes in London. Officer to
review with bus companies - Ask QIP to discuss
and pick up in review

Council to seek an agreed traffic enforcement strategy with 
North Yorks Police for the York area to address issues inc 
bus priorities, road safety, etc and establish an on-going 
delivery partnership arrangement - see Recommendation 
viii 

7 Stagnation in growth of bus usage (and particularly
of fare paying passengers

Bus operators to hold down fares and improve
services. Counil to tackle the range of issues
delaying buses reducing reliability etc

Reverse current trends Undertake an urgent review of the Council’s bus strategy 
to see how the current stagnation in overall bus usage, 
decline in non-concessionary usage, and in the 
conventional bus network can be reversed - see 
Recommendation xi

Objective (iv) - CO2 Emissions

Issue/Findings

Objectives (v) - Journey Times & Reliability of Public Transport

1. Review waiting restrictions on bus routes where
operators have identified problems
2.  Seek better enforcement

1.  Reduce need to travel                                            
2. Undertake more journeys by environmen-tally 
friendly modes                                                      3. 
Undertake more shared journeys                       4. 
Improve vehicle engine efficiency & switch to lower 
/ non-carbon based fuels                                     5.  
Improve driving standards (for fuel efficiency)                                                                        
6. Reduce congestion delays and fuel wastage                  

Findings

3

Council to undertake with bus operators and the Police a 
joint review of loading and parking restrictions and their 
enforcement on bus routes - see Recommendation xii

Commission a detailed study of a future Transport Strategy 
to 2025 and beyond based around scenarios emerging 
from the consultation - see Recommendation ii

On street parking causes a problem Improved bus flow, greater reliability and
increased bus usage.

P
age 52



Annex C

Findings Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
8 Changes to Park & Ride Services should be made
clearer to the public and relative cheapness of the
Park & Ride fares relative to local bus services
creates a perverse incentive for local residents to
drive to Park & Ride sites

Undertake an urgent reviewof the Council's bus strategy - 
see Recommendation xi

9 Traffic flow is 8-10% lower during school holidays,
making a significant difference to reliability

Encourage non car journeys to school - tighten
parking restrictions. Set traffic flow target for City
@ free flow levels                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              

Need to look at how London offers free travel on
buses to under 16yrs to see if this could be part of
the solution. 

Seek an agreed enforcement strategy with North Yorkshire 
Police - see Recommendation viii

10 There are still a number of buses in operation that
are not DDA compliant

See agreement to implement changes - use
Council's own procurement process to drive
change through Council funded services

Additional subsidy costs. Better disabled use and
access

Council to drive through early implementation of full DDA 
compliance for all Council vehicles & Council procured bus 
services, and CCTV  - see Recommendation xiii

11 Not all bus stops have timetables/shelters thus
reducing the attractiveness of the bus package

Prioritise spending of LTP money over the next few
years on missing timetable displays and shelters

Better perception of bus service package and
knowledge of when buses due Prioritise the provision of timetable displays and bus

shelters at all bus stops - see Recommendation xi
12 Many people not fully aware of full bus network and
ability to conveniently access less central
destinations

Exploit new technologies e.g. messaging, internet
etc Reinstate local bus info centre and carry out
more general promotion of the bus network to new
users

Make people more knowledgeable and confident
with using the network, including those for whom
face to face contact is important, and those who
do not regularly use local buses

Ensure positive promotion of bus network and bus usage 
including passenger information - see Recommendation 
xvii                                                     Identify underused 
bus services and look at ticketing and marketing measures 
for all services, to improve usage - see Recommendation 
xii

13 Lack of knowledge of where to change on multi-leg
journeys, lack of co-ordination of service timetables
for interchange and cost of multi-leg journeys with
different bus providers

Interchange points with enhanced user facilities,
especially shelters & BLISS displays. Bus
operators to look at service timetabling for through
journeys particularly for less frequent services and
times e.g. early mornings, evenings & sundays.
Provide through ticket options at reasonable prices

Clarity and coffidence for bus users making
through journeys more attractive and increasing
bus usage. Key feature of more successful EU
and big UK city public transport facilities. Cost of
providing extra facilities to Council and of through
ticketing arrangements to operators.

Improve the quality of interchange points between public 
transport modes and between routes with designated 
interchange stops, and co-ordinate bus timings - see 
Recommendation xi

14 Cost of fares high and continuing to rise
significantly relative to motoring alternative over
recent years, creating affordability issues for the
less well off and families

Bus operators to hold down fares to inflation.
Council to increase subsidy to facilitate this, and/or
universely to increase car parking charges to
maintain marginal cost differentials and to use
additional income for bus service
support/investment

Maintain and increase attractiveness of bus
services and therefore usage. Affordability to
Council unless additional income and impact of
increased car parking charges on public support
and city centre economy

Renew focus through the Council’s Quality Bus 
Partnership, on undertaking those measures that would 
most effectively stop the current decline in bus usage - see 
Recommendation viii                                                  
Recognise again and explicitly consider the role of city 
centre car park availability and fee levels in influencing 
modal choice when fee levels are examined as part of the 
budget process.  Or, more radically, take out that process 
entirely and set as part of a longer term policy based 
approach to both transport and the city centre economy, 
recognising the importance of both imperatives - see 
Recommendation vi

P
age 53



Annex C

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 The 2007/08 measured average vehicle delay time
suggests congestion costs York £0.5m per annum

Dual outer ring road ('Future York' report), upgrade
outer ring road junctions, radically improve local
public transport, increase car park charges,
introduce private non-residential

Increasing central car park charges for transport
reasons may weaken the city centre economy.

Commission a detailed study of a future Transport Strategy
to 2021 and beyond based around preferred scenario(s) -
see Recommendation ii

2 Perceptions of congestion and traffic problems may
put off inward investors

(business) car park charges or introduce road
pricing to reduce traffic and congestion

See Background Paper on 'Broad Strategic
Options' evaluation. 

3 Congestion related longer commuter journeys may
put people off working in York and reduce the size
and quality of the available labour market

Private non-residential car park charges may
discourage employees from coming to or
remaining in York

4 Money wasted by York residents on increased fuel
usage in congestion, is money not available for
other expenditure in the local economy

Road pricing if it substantially reduces congestion
may offset the problems above, but it may equally
put casual visitors and shoppers off. Evidence of
success of London road pricing scheme, not
public rejection of Edinburgh & Manchester
proposals

Tackle road safety issues and help make raods more 
attractive to green modes by undertaking 'Considerate 
Road User' campaigns - see Recommendation xv

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 Busy roads reduce social interaction and divide
communities

Reduce traffic by ideas listed in 'Identified
Solutions' section of Objective (vi) above

As listed above in Obective (vi)

2 Noisy roads especially at night, disturb sleep and
can have adverse effects on health and on
children's cognitive development

3 Busy roads make cycling and walking less
attractive

Adopt an on-going public engagement strategy in terms of 
the future transport strategy and solutions for the City - see 
Recommendation iii

4 Evidence of a clear correlation between obesity and
levels of walking and cycling and use of public
transport

Promote health benefits of more walking and
cycling

Reverse current adverse trends on health and
obesity

Tackle road safety issues and help to make roads more 
attractive to green modes by undertaking ‘Considerate 
Road User’ campaigns - see Recommendation xv

5 Major vehicle presence can detract from historic /
conservation area settings

Reduce traffic and street furniture, along with all
the signs and other street clutter

Findings

Objectives (vii) - Quality of Life
Findings

 Adopt an on-going public engagement strategy in terms of 
the future transport strategy and solutions for the City - see 
Recommendation iii

Commission a detailed study of a future Transport Strategy 
to 2021 and beyond based around preferred scenario(s)  - 
see Recommendation ii

Objectives (vi) - Economic Performance

P
age 54



Annex C

Identified Solutions Possible Impacts & Evidence Relevant Draft Recommendations
1 Pedestrian accidents particularly concentrated in
and around city centre, and then on main and
distribution road in the main urban area (inc Haxby
& Strensall)

1. Implement an effective strategy based on a 
combination of the following:                                                            
a.  Reducing traffic flows                                            
b.  Managing traffic speeds                                      

Well researched link between traffic speed, 
accident numbers and severity.                            
Improved adherence to seat belt laws, drink 
driving laws and speed limits etc                                                              

Tackle road safety issues and help to make roads more 
attractive to green modes by undertaking ‘Considerate 
Road User’ campaigns - see Recommendation xv                                                         

2 Many more cycle accidents again predominently on
main and distribution raods within the main urban
area (inc Haxby & Strensall)

c. Reducing the potential for conflict, particularly 
between motor vehicles and pedestrian/cyclists                                                        
d.  Improved education, training and publicity                                                                

Extensive evidence of reduction from past
accident improvement and traffic calming
schemes

3 Powered 2 wheeler accidents predominently within
ORR area evenly distributed but beyond ORR
generally higher speed and more serious, and
believed to be larger motorbikes

e.  Targeted police enforcement (including 
weekends / early Sunday mornings

4 Motor car accidents predominently on main and
secondary roads throughout the Council area

5 Serious accident peaks in the weekday rush hours
which are the congestion peaks, unlike
Saturday/Sunday (believed to be linked to relative
cycle / pedestrian volumes). There is also a lesser
peak in the early hours of Sunday after 1am -
probably drink related - when traffic policing ends.
Compounding effect of extra road accidents at peak
periods leading to additional delays and congestion

7 Problem with traffic enforcement by Police beyond
major trunk road network consistently beng given
less and less priority over many years. Police
strategy appears completely detached from the
Council's transport & network management strategy

a) Seek to establish a joint CYC / NYP traffic 
enforcement strategy - perhaps annual traffic 
enforcement priorities                                                         
b)  Review contingency arrangements  (network 
management / police / other emergency services) 
for dealing with accidents on the primary route 
network in terms of minimising delay, rapid 
information disitribution to other raod  users of the 
problem and alternative route information                         
c) Make representations to the Govt for the early 
roleout of the relevant sections of the 2004 Traffic 
Management Act which gives powers to Local 
Highway  Authorities outside London re 'moving 
traffic' offences.                       d) better 'policing' of 
delivery vehicles required. May need to look at 
current restrictions to see if improvements can be 
made. Also need to work with businesses to ensure 
that they direct their delivery vehicles to the 
correct/appropriate places

Better enforcement may reduce blockages and
congestion. Evidence of red route lane
enforcement in London

Council to seek an agreed traffic enforcement strategy with 
North Yorkshire police for the York area to address issues 
including bus priorities, road safety, on-street parking, 
school no parking zones etc  together with establishing an 
on-going delivery partnership arrangement - see 
Recommendation viii

Findings

Objectives (viii) - Road Safety

P
age 55



P
age 56

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

The following evaluation of the York scenarios aims to give an indication of each approach’s ability to limit growth in congestion, informed by 
regional study evidence. 
 
Scenario 1 – Do Minimum (Reference Case) – This has no further significant investment in the transport network post LTP2 and relies on 
the demand for transport and the network’s available capacity coming to a ‘natural balance’. It is therefore unlikely to have any direct effect 
on reducing congestion, which will be close to the predicted 28% increase in traffic levels by 2021, due to expected development in the city 
generating more transport demands. 
 
Scenario 2 – ‘Smarter Choices’ – The congestion relieving effects can be significant if investment in them is sufficient and sustained. The 
Department for Transport's (DfT) document "Smarter choices: changing the way we travel", showed that 'smarter choices' (or 'soft 
measures’), could have a positive impact on traffic and congestion levels. These measures, which include school travel plans, workplace 
travel plans, personalised travel planning, tele-working, public transport marketing, cycling facilities and car clubs, could reduce peak hour 
urban traffic by as much as 21 per cent, although in York the future impact of this is likely to be reduced by over half, as some ‘smarter 
choices’ measures have already been carried out.  Furthermore, research by the DfT showed the impact of these could be greatly enhanced 
by complementary demand management policies. 
 
Whatever improvements are made to facilities to encourage use of public transport, walking and cycling (York has now achieved ‘Cycling 
City’ designation), there is a great reluctance for motorists to consider other modes of travel unless there is an overwhelming perceived 
advantage in doing so (in terms of time, cost, conscience, comfort and combinations of these issues).  Consequently, although ‘smarter 
choices’ have the ability to achieve a high degree of modal shift they are usually implemented as part of a package of other measures and 
require a continuous and significant level of (revenue) investment over a long period to achieve their full potential.  If implemented solely, 
around a 3% reduction in congestion below that predicted in York by 2021, might be achieved. 
 
Scenario 3 – Continuation of LTP Approach will continue to achieve some reduction in congestion, but is likely to be less successful than 
the first LTP (no net increase) and LTP2 (limited to 7% increase in traffic growth) as, although it is likely that a balanced package of 
measures will be continued, the majority of affordable measures that could be implemented, would have been. Overall it might achieve 
around a 5% reduction in congestion below that predicted by 2021. 
 
Scenario 4 - Non-Motorised Transport Infrastructure Improvements will provide the most healthy lifestyle options for people to travel 
and continue the work that will have been done through York’s Cycling City programme.  It’s impacts will be limited however and it may only 
achieve a 1% reduction in congestion below that predicted to 2021 . 

P
age 57



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

Scenario 5 - Road based Public Transport Investment (inc. Park & Ride) will provide more capacity in the bus network and improve 
quality, frequency and reliability of buses as well as improve the waiting environment for passengers thereby capturing passengers that may 
otherwise not use public transport.  This might achieve a1-2% reduction in congestion below that predicted to 2021. 
 
Scenario 6 - Investment in Rail - As recent studies have shown rail services to be under utilised, this could realise the current latent 
demand for rail travel, particularly commuting by rail.  Investments could be directed to improving heavy rail services or to new light rail 
technology such as tram-train.  However, this is likely to be very expensive to implement and might achieve a 5% reduction in congestion 
below that predicted to 2021. 
 
Scenario 7 – Extended Conventional Demand Management - This is unlikely to have a significant impact on reducing congestion on its 
own and might achieve a 1% reduction in congestion below that predicted to 2021.  However it may enhance the ability of other scenarios to 
reduce congestion. 
 
Scenario 8 - Workplace parking charge will act as a deterrent to driving if charged directly to the motorist choosing to park at the 
workplace.  However, the charge may be absorbed by employers and not passed on to employees. Also it will not work in isolation 
particularly if no other choices for travel are available.  This might achieve a 5% reduction in congestion below that predicted to 2021.   
 
Scenario 9 - Road User Charging Whilst LTP2 currently considers that the use of ‘Road User Charging’ (RUC) within the period of the plan 
is not a priority at the present time (neither directly or through Workplace Parking Levies), evidence suggests that with continued economic 
growth the demand for travel will increase continually if it is not tackled. It is also becoming increasingly clear that Government sees RUC as 
one of the main options in a package of measures to address the issue of traffic congestion across the country.  Information on other cities’ 
progress in implementing Road User Charging and its capacity to attract investment is shown at Annex Af. 
 
Whilst we have no experience in York of RUC schemes it would seem that there are two distinct types.  The first of these seeks to apply 
sufficient charges to deter drivers from entering the city and recoup the costs of operating such a scheme.  The alternative scheme seeks to 
do the same but applies a higher charge in order to fund other improvements to encourage the use of sustainable forms of travel.   
 
There are a number of road pricing mechanisms including, cordon or zone charging, distance based charging, time based charging and most 
popularly congestion charging as used in London.  The different mechanisms can use a variety of ways of collecting the charge such as toll 
booths, number plate recognition and electronic fee collection via smartcard or in car satellite positioning.  Payment of the charge is usually 
by a variety of means but the favoured mechanism is via electronic means such as the internet or by direct debit. 
 

P
age 58



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

A cordon based approach was looked at in the early 1990s using the Council’s early Saturn model.  It looked at two alternative cordons, one 
just outside the inner ring road and one just outside the outer ring road.  The effect of both was found to be broadly similar with positive 
results based on a £1 one way charge to cross a cordon.   The introduction of an outer cordon has the potential to reinforce the message to 
motorists to use bus services or Park & Ride, once the additional expanded ‘Assess York’ sites come on stream.  To maximise the 
deliverability of this solution, the Park & Ride sites would all be located within the outer ring road which raises questions about the proposed 
A59 Park & Ride site beyond it. 
 
A 2006 study looked at one form of zone charging which involved the introduction of tolls on the three city bridges and the key findings were: 
 
• Without tolling there is a significant worsening of the situation with 2021 traffic levels are nearly 25% higher than 2005 and the time 

spent travelling on the network increasing by some 50%.  
• The introduction of £1 or a £5 toll on the three City bridges does not significantly reduce the overall number of vehicles on the network.  
• A £1 toll displaces a proportion of drivers from the centre and results in a small reduction in the overall vehicle delay on the entire 

network.  
• A £5 toll displaces a greater number of drivers but the overall effect is to increase the overall amount of time spent travelling by vehicles 

on the network and the net distance travelled. 
• The reductions in delay savings in the City Centre are effectively cancelled out by increases in delay at outer junctions and increases in 

overall journey distances. 
 

Although road user charging is most likely to capture traffic inbound to and through the city, it will not work in isolation, particularly if no other 
choices for travel are available.  The Committee heard about the Cardiff PPP and Manchester TIF schemes which both presented models of 
up front major public transport improvement investment, prior to the introduction of actual RUC, which then contributed to paying off the 
investment.  And, whilst introducing a road user charge might achieve a nominal 8% reduction in congestion below that predicted to 2021, it 
could be expensive to implement for a small city like York.   Also the percentage figure quoted should be viewed cautiously as the impact of 
RUC will depend on a whole series of factors i.e. the type of charging applied, the charge levels, if varied by time of day or week and what 
exemptions are given e.g. disabled, freight, low income groups etc.  This can be seen with the London scheme, where evidence given to the 
Committee showed the initial zone reduction was a massive 26%, which was then reduced by the concessions made when it was expanded 
to the West End of London.  Nonetheless, it still has a very positive effect, with significant reductions in traffic, congestion, pollution and 
accidents and contributing major funds to improve public transport services (£100m of the £123m annual income), see also annex Ai.   
 

P
age 59



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

Scenario 10 - Highway Infrastructure Investment  could relieve congestion by providing extra capacity, but might also only be a short term 
fix as suppressed/induced demand is released once the infrastructure is in place.  Highway infrastructure investment will have some benefits 
for road-based public transport and may optimistically achieve around a 10% (local) reduction initially, but it could lead to an increase overall 
in congestion in the longer term.  It is also particularly difficult to obtain Government funding under current assessment rules for the very 
large costs involved. 

 
Optimal Combination Solutions For Addressing Congestion  
The Committee recognised that the scenarios detailed in paragraphs 52-66 above, could be introduced individually or in combination to 
provide differing levels of congestion relief and that the key issue was to identify the optimal and most affordable combination of those 
scenarios to either widen travel choice or manage the demand for travel.  An initial assessment of these combinations was carried out and 
these have been listed in order of increasing ability to tackle the issues – see Annex H.  The two final scenarios (13 & 14) ultimately present 
the  optimal solutions for addressing congestion either without a road user charge element (scenario 13) but with no other funding 
mechanism identified to deliver it, or with road user charging (scenario 14) within the TIF funding framework, but subject to being able to 
demonstrate it is practically and financially deliverable. 
 
Scenario 11 Tackling Inward Commute - Aimed at capturing longer distance commuters on the way in to York and discouraging travelling 
by car through the city.  This does little to encourage people to switch to more sustainable forms of transport for shorter journeys. Might 
achieve around 8-10% reduction in congestion. 
 
Scenario 12 Easing Citywide Movement - Focussed on reducing within-city commuting trips by car by encouraging people to switch to 
more sustainable forms of transport for shorter journeys, but does little to capture inward commuting traffic, which forms a significant part of 
the overall traffic flow. Around a 7-8% reduction in congestion might be achieved. 
 
‘Optimal’ Scenarios 13 & 14  - Both scenario 13 and scenario 14 have been postulated as packages of various measures beyond the 
scope and scale of an LTP programme that would be the most effective at tackling congestion in York in the long–term.  Both scenarios 
comprise a similar aspiration for the development of non-motorised transport (walking and cycling) and road based public transport (buses) 
to encourage greater use of more sustainable forms of transport for journeys of up to five miles and investment in York’s rail network (albeit 
at a higher level in Scenario 14) for longer distance commuting. Continued investment in a comprehensive programme of ‘smarter choices’ 
measures will maximise the ability of the above to achieve a significant modal shift away from the use of a private car. In addition to widening 
transport choice, both scenarios include the introduction of a strategic and coordinated programme of conventional demand management 
measures, such as car park pricing; highway space reallocation and more effective use of traffic signals to deter traffic from the city centre. 
 

P
age 60



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

It is envisaged that the implementation of scenario 13 may possibly achieve a modal shift in the range of around 7% - 12% in the city centre, 
though no means of funding this scenario have been identified.  
 
Where scenarios 13 and 14 differ, is in the much higher level of investment in highway infrastructure and rail (e.g. for the introduction of a 
tram-train network) in scenario 14 in conjunction with the application of road user charging (RUC) within the TIF framework, to fund the 
whole package.  RUC could be applied either directly, or by the introduction of a workplace parking levy or in combination (with exceptions to 
avoid double charging) and could be used to raise capital funding (through TIF or otherwise) and/or as a revenue stream to increase subsidy 
to public transport. 
 
It is envisaged that the implementation of scenario 14 may possibly achieve a modal shift in the range of around 15% - 20% in the city 
centre, subject to the significant uncertainty at this stage of how much RUC can actually deliver. 
 
Even though both scenarios might achieve significant modal shift, it may not be possible to completely stem the rise in congestion in the city 
if the city develops as anticipated.  However, they are considered to be the most radical solutions over and above a ‘typical LTP package’ for 
minimising the impacts of congestion in the future and go the furthest towards achieving that ambition and with a potential funding 
mechanism (scenario 14). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 61



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

 
Scenario 
No. 

Title Brief Description Mechanism & output Implications Responsible 
organisation(s) 

1 Do Minimum No further investment in 
the transport system other 
than already committed 
schemes. (i.e. end of 
LTP2) 

Reliant on ‘natural balance’ to 
occur. As the demand on the 
road network increases the ‘peak 
spreading’ will occur increasing 
travel times for private and public 
transport to an unacceptable 
level. 

Unacceptable increases in travel time would inhibit 
economic growth.  

CoYC 

2 ‘Smarter 
Choices’ 

Marketing, publicity and 
personal travel planning 
to make people more 
aware of transport options 
available  

Seeks to make people use what 
we have in a better way, but 
doesn’t increase the capacity of 
the transport network 

Low cost (£25,000 - £250,000 per year  overall 
revenue). 
Unlikely to have any quick-wins, but has achieved 
significant modal shift, over time where used. 
Full benefits may not be realised without other 
investment to improve capacity in the network. 
Unlikely to achieve sufficient congestion relief to 
prevent economic growth being inhibited. 

CoYC 

3 Continuation of 
LTP Approach 

Continue policies and 
investment levels 
currently in Local 
Transport Plan 2006-2011 

Package of measures to meet 
shared priorities 

Some successes, but limited for achieving much 
more at similar levels of investment, so unlikely to 
achieve sufficient congestion relief to prevent 
economic growth being inhibited.  

CoYC (through LTP 
settlement) 
DfT (for LTP settlement 
awarded) 

4 Non-Motorised 
Transport 
Infrastructure 
Improvements 

High level of investment 
for walking/cycling, 
including new river 
crossings but minimal 
investment elsewhere 

Completion of strategic cycle 
network and links (including 
secure storage) plus improved 
pedestrian environment to 
facilitate more ‘healthy travel’. 
Supplement infrastructure with 
education and training. 

Unblocking of barriers to increased cycling / walking 
within the city, but unlikely to alleviate longer 
distance commuter / through traffic, so unlikely to 
achieve sufficient congestion relief to prevent 
economic growth being inhibited. 

CoYC 
Sustrans 
Cycling England 
Regional Transport 
Board 
Other funding agencies 
 

P
age 62



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

5 Road based 
Public Transport 
Investment (inc. 
Park & Ride) 

High level of investment 
for improved public 
transport services (buses) 
and infrastructure, but 
minimal investment 
elsewhere 

Improved infrastructure, 
including interchange facilities 
further P & R sites and better 
bus stop facilities by CoYC, 
together with service 
improvements, including 
integrated ticketing, by bus 
operators through use of 
voluntary/statutory quality 
partnerships and / or statutory 
quality contracts.  
Potential for guided bus route(s). 

Significant step-change required to make PT more 
attractive for increasing patronage, but reticence by 
operators may hamper aspirations. Also reliant on 
increased and continual revenue support for non-
commercial services.  
Could provide significant level of congestion relief 

CoYC (infrastructure and 
quality contracts) 
Bus operators (services 
through partnership(s) 
and/or contracts) 
Leeds City Region (for 
connections to other 
towns/cities) 

6 Investment in 
Rail 

investment in rail services 
and infrastructure 

Coordinated approach to 
developing all forms of rail based 
public transport, including 
introduction of more heavy rail or 
tram/train services particularly if 
links to LBIA improved. 

Reliant on outcome of trials and procedures for 
completing rail projects. 
Could remove more longer distance commuting 
traffic than 5 

CoYC (infrastructure and 
quality contracts) 
Network Rail 
Train operating 
companies 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 

7 Conventional 
Demand 
Management 

Implementing various 
demand management 
measures to make city 
(centre) less desirable to 
access by private car. 

Mixture of more radical parking 
policies, access restrictions and 
reallocation of road space to 
more sustainable forms of 
transport, together with 
technological development such 
as TCMS to ease traffic 
movements. 

Big ‘stick’ and some ‘carrot’ (opportunities for 
improving more sustainable modes on reallocated 
roadspace). 
Can not use in isolation so unlikely, in itself, to 
achieve sufficient congestion relief to prevent 
economic growth being inhibited, unless more 
sustainable mode improvements introduced. 

CoYC 

P
age 63



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

8 Workplace 
parking charge 

Workplace parking levy  Workplace parking charging to 
deter commuting to city centre 
workplaces by car. 
Revenue raised by levy used to 
fund other improvements. 

Big ‘stick’ but no ‘carrot’. Even if seen as a deterrent 
it may be perceived by motorists to be an 
‘acceptable penalty’. 
Cannot use in isolation so unlikely, in itself, to 
achieve sufficient congestion relief to prevent 
economic growth limitations. 
Possible implications on employment locations and 
re-locations 
Need to improve other modes before introducing. 
Commuter orientated charge (into and within the 
city). 
Could encourage greater take-up of workplace 
travel plans. 
Exemptions. 
Relatively quick to implement. 

CoYC 
Employers (depending 
on no. of staff at 
workplace) 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 

9 Road User 
Charging 

Area / Cordon based road 
user charge 

Area / Cordon charging zone to 
discourage through-city travel by 
private vehicles. 
Revenue raised by charge used 
to fund other improvements. 

Big ‘stick’ but no ‘carrot’. Even if seen as a deterrent 
it may be perceived by motorists to be an 
‘acceptable penalty’. 
Cannot use in isolation so unlikely, in itself, to 
achieve sufficient congestion relief to prevent 
economic growth limitations. 
Possible implications on employment locations and 
re-locations 
Need to improve other modes before introducing. 
Could discourage cross city movements 
Encourages more use of Park & Ride services 
Will require extensive monitoring and enforcement 
apparatus and procedures. 
Exemptions. 
Could have long lead-in period. 

CoYC 
DfT (for allocating TIF 
funding) 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 

P
age 64



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

10 Highway 
Infrastructure 

Implementation of major 
highway projects such as 
Access York Phase II  
(incorporating ORR 
dualling) and freight 
consolidation centre 

Major highway investment, 
favouring predominantly private 
motorised transport, but with 
some benefits for road based 
public transport. 

Provides extra traffic capacity on routes around the 
city, thus making them more favourable than 
through city routes for cross-city movements. 
Bus priority on key radials will improve journey 
reliability. 
Consolidation centre will facilitate more efficient 
freight deliveries to the city centre. 
Significant removal of longer-distance commuting / 
through traffic in city centre, hence reduces 
congestion, but does not achieve much 
transference to more sustainable modes for shorter 
journeys. 

CoYC 
DfT for awarding Major 
Scheme Bids 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 

Combination Scenarios (consulted on as part of the residents survey) 
Option A 
in residents 

Survey 

Tackling Inward 
Commute 

Combination of Scenarios 
2, 5, 6, 8, 9 & 10 

Heavy investment in Park & Ride 
and other road/rail public 
transport, together with 
workplace parking levy and/or 
road user charge and Access 
York Phase II 

Provides extra traffic capacity on routes around the 
city, thus making them more favourable than 
through city routes for cross-city movements. 
Bus priority on key radials will improve journey 
reliability. 
Consolidation centre will facilitate more efficient 
freight deliveries to the city centre. 
Significant removal of longer-distance commuting / 
through traffic in city centre and some car borne 
‘within’ city commuter trips, hence reduces 
congestion, but does not achieve much 
transference to more sustainable modes for shorter 
journeys. 

CoYC  
DfT 
Bus operators  
Network Rail 
Train operating 
companies 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 
Employers 

Option B 
in residents 

survey 

Easing citywide 
movement 

Combination of Scenarios 
2, 4, 5, 7, 8 & 9 

Heavy investment in Park & Ride 
and other road based public 
transport, together with city 
centre demand management / 
traffic management measures, 
workplace parking levy and/or 
road user charging and Access 
York Phase II. 
 

As 11 but more focussed on providing more 
sustainable and healthy options for shorter distance 
travel  

CoYC  
DfT 
Bus operators  
Network Rail 
Train operating 
companies 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 
Employers 

P
age 65



Annex D 
Which Way Now? 

City of York long-term transport strategy (to 2021) 
 

Option C 
in residents 

survey 

Optimal 
Combination 
without Charging 

Combination of Scenarios 
2, 4, 5, 6, &  7 

Broad spread of improvement 
measures with some demand 
management. 

Optimal combination of elements in scenarios 1-9 
but without any form of charging road users (other 
than through general parking prices) for the 
congestion they may cause. 
Will need to source funding streams other than TIF 
for the substantial investment required as unlikely to 
be eligible for TIF funding, and may not be 
deliverable otherwise. 
Unlikely to be a significant disincentive to use of 
private transport within the city. 
 

CoYC  
DfT 
Bus operators  
Network Rail 
Train operating 
companies 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 
Employers 

Option D  
in residents 

survey 

Optimal 
Combination 
with Charging 

Combination of Scenarios 
2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 or 9 & 10 

Broad spread of improvement 
and extensive demand 
management measures. 

Optimal combination of 11 & 12 to achieve 
maximum congestion relief. 
Most likely scenario to attract TIF funding for the 
significant investment  required. 
Charging element could influence economic growth 
(this needs examining). 

CoYC  
DfT 
Bus operators  
Network Rail 
Train operating 
companies 
Leeds City Region 
Regional Transport 
Board 
Employers 

 
Notes  
 

1 Each subsequent scenario increases in cost/complexity/deliverability to preceding scenario(s). 
2 Each scenario and measure therein should be assessed for user affordability. 

 

P
age 66



Tackling Traffic Congestion in York 
 

2010 consultation report 

P
age 67



  Background to the 2010 Congestion ConsultationBackground to the 2010 Congestion Consultation  

This city-wide survey was included as an insert in Your City February 2010 with a parallel 
online version of the survey available on the CYC website. The closing date was 26th March 
2010.  
 
The A4, colour survey included information on the extent of the problem of traffic congestion 
in York, a map highlighting levels of congestion across the City and a detailed breakdown of 
each of the proposed solutions.  
 
The survey booklet included an integral fold-and-flap style return FREEPOST envelope. 
  
90,000 surveys were distributed. A total of 7292 completed surveys were returned - a 
response rate of 8%.  
 
A majority of 6967 completed the survey by post and 325 completed it online.  
 
Data-processing was carried out by an independent research agency. The report was written 
by the market research team, Performance and Improvement.   
 
 

P
age 68



  Statistical reliability explainedStatistical reliability explained  

Based on statistical rules, the overall results from this consultation are accurate to within  
+/- 1.1% at the 95% confidence level.  
 
This means that if the exact same survey was carried out 100 times, 95 out of 100 times the 
overall results (those with a base of all respondents) would not be more or less than 1.1% 
from the figures in this report.  
 
This level is superior to the accepted industry standard of +/- 5%.  
 
The statistical accuracy of results at sub-level will vary. As a guide, a base size of 100 will have The statistical accuracy of results at sub-level will vary. As a guide, a base size of 100 will have 
an accuracy level of +/- 9.8% at the 95% confidence level, 500 at +/- 4.4% and 1000 at +/- 
3.1%.  
 
This report shows the figures for respondents who gave a definite response to each question 
so base sizes will vary where questions have not been completed.   
 
Where responses do not add up to 100%, this is due to multiple coding (respondents could 
choose more than one option) or computer rounding. 
 
All reported differences are statistically significant.  

P
age 69



Key FindingsKey Findings  

• Overall, the greatest proportion of respondents said the majority of their journey to work is made 
by car 

• Dropping children off on the way to work is overwhelming the most likely reason for respondents 
saying they travel by car for school/nursery journeys  

• Car is the most likely form of transport used by residents to travel into and around York 

• When looking at just those who said they do not currently use buses to travel into and around 
York, the top three specific reasons are cost, frequency of service and reliability 

• When looking at just those who said they do not currently use a bike to travel into and • When looking at just those who said they do not currently use a bike to travel into and 
around York, the top three specific reasons are not owning a bike, safety concerns and 
health problems/age 

• When looking at just those who said they do not currently travel on foot to travel into and 
around York, the top three specific reasons are feeling it’s too far to walk, it takes too long to 
walk and having to carry equipment/heavy bags 

• Option C – restricting congestion without charging – was most likely to chosen as 
respondents’ first choice measure to tackle congestion in the city (39%) 

• Respondents were asked to tick their top five preferences from a list of ten alternative 
measures in the event that the council is not given the funding to implement the suggested 
scenarios completely. Improving local bus services to meet residents’ needs was the most 
frequently chosen option, followed by establishing a freight depot to reduce the size and 
number of delivery vehicles coming into the city.  

P
age 70



Consultation demographics Consultation demographics --  areaarea  

Response rates by area varied:  

 

P
age 71



Consultation demographics Consultation demographics --  areaarea  

The tables below show a further breakdown of responses by area. The percentages 
shown are based out of the ten York city area postcodes (so excluding all out of York 
city and blank postcode responses). A map follows this slide. 

P
age 72



Consultation demographics Consultation demographics --  areaarea  

The adjacent map shows the density of 
responses from each postcode sector 
area.  

Darker areas represent a greater 
number of responses (see legend for % 
response band).  

P
age 73



Consultation demographicsConsultation demographics  

There are enough responses from both 
males and females to the survey to be 
able to analyse results robustly for gender 
differences.  
 
York 2006 population estimate:  
Male – 49% 
Female – 51% 
 

The largest proportion of responses were 
from those over 55 years old (55%). 
Although only around one in ten (12%) 
responses were from the 18 to 34 age 
group, there are enough of these 
residents to run sub-analysis at a robust 
level.   
 
York 2006 population estimate:  
(out of 17+ only to enable comparison) 
 
18-34 – 34% 
35-54 – 33% 
Over 55 – 33% 
 
 

P
age 74



Consultation demographicsConsultation demographics  

Almost one in ten respondents (8%) said 
they were disabled, defined as:  
 
‘someone with a physical or sensory 
impairment, long term medical condition, 
learning difficulty or mental health 
problem’.  
 
York 2006 population estimate:  
Disabilities – 17% Disabilities – 17% 

The majority (99%) of respondents said 
they were not completing the survey on 
behalf of their business.  
 
 
 
 

P
age 75



Journeys to workJourneys to work  

There is a fairly even split between respondents who go into York city centre for 
work (35% overall), across York for work (35% overall) and those who do not 
work or travel to work (30%).  
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 76



Journeys to work Journeys to work ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

Out of all respondents, 44% said they don’t work/travel to work or left this 
question blank. Out of these respondents, one in ten (11%) specified a work 
postcode later in the survey suggesting that at least some of these respondents 
do work but do not need to either go into or across York to get there.   
 
A proportion will work from home and have no commute; therefore correctly 
choosing the ‘don’t work/travel to work’ option. 
 
Two thirds (67%/232 of respondents) of those who said they don’t work/travel 
to work or who left this question blank, but who later specified a work postcode, to work or who left this question blank, but who later specified a work postcode, 
said they work in the York city area.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 77



Journeys to workJourneys to work  

The greatest proportion of respondents said the majority of their journey to work is 
made by car; those age 55+ are more likely (58%) to  say this than other age groups 
(37% average).  
 

Those age 18-34 were more likely to say that they make the majority of their journey on 
foot (19% compared to 10% of those age 34+).  
 

Nearly all (97%) of those who said they use a bus work in the YO postcode areas. All 
those who said they use the Park & Ride service, travel by car to get there.   
 P

age 78



Journeys to work Journeys to work ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

The table above details distance travelled to work in and across York by mode of transport and distance.  
 
It is important to note that respondents were asked to specify the mode of transport they use for the 
majority of their journey and this may not necessarily be within York.  
 
This explains why, for example, half of train users said they travel into the city centre less than two miles 
from home to get to work; we can assume these residents work in other towns and cities but the data 
cannot tell us how they get to York station from their home. However, we do know that these respondents 
later said were most likely to travel around York for any type of journey by foot (26%) and by car (23%).  
 
The same principle applies to other modes of transport.  
 
 

P
age 79



School and nursery journeysSchool and nursery journeys  

Out of all respondents, a minority of 8% said they regularly take children to school/nursery 
by car.  

 Dropping children off on the way to work is overwhelmingly the most likely reason for this 
(55%). The data also suggests that lack of buses, or indirect bus routes, has some 
influence on respondents’ decisions to drive to schools/nurseries.  

P
age 80



School and nursery journeys School and nursery journeys ––  distance distance   

Half (48%) of those that travel by car for school/nursery journeys have a journey of less 
than 2 miles to get there. These respondents were more likely to say they drive because 
they are dropping off children on the way to work than for any other reason.  
 

Those with longer journeys to school/nursery were more likely (more than 2 miles - 23% 
average) to say ‘distance’ was a reason for travelling by car than those with less than 2 
miles to go (7%).  
 

 

P
age 81



Travelling in and around York Travelling in and around York ––  all journeysall journeys  

Car is the most likely form of transport used to travel into and around York. 

The same proportion of 18-34 year olds and 35-45 year olds said they travel by bike (48% 
each) and are more likely to do this than those age 55+ (25%).  
 

 
 

 P
age 82



Barriers to travelling by busBarriers to travelling by bus  

Out of all respondents, the top three specific reasons preventing travel by bus are 
frequency of service (28%), cost (26%) and reliability (22%).  

The same top three reasons were cited when looking at just those who said they do not 
currently use buses although cost moves higher up the list as a reason for these 
respondents (36%). 

A proportion (14%) of these current non-users said nothing stops them using a bus.  

P
age 83



Barriers to travelling by bikeBarriers to travelling by bike  

Out of all respondents, the top three specific reasons preventing travel by bike are not 
owning a bike (27%), the weather (23%) and having to carry equipment/heavy bags 
(21%) joint with feeling it is not safe to cycle (21%).   

When looking at just those who said they do not currently use a bike to travel into and 
around York, not owning a bike again is the top barrier (41%) although it is important to 
note that this is likely to be because the respondent chooses not to cycle as well as a 
barrier for those who would like to do so . Safety concerns move higher in the list than out 
of all respondents however (26%), as well as health problems/ age (22%).   
 

 

P
age 84



Barriers to travelling on footBarriers to travelling on foot  

Out of all respondents, the top three specific reasons preventing travel on foot are feeling 
it’s too far to walk (37%), having to carry equipment/heavy bags (25%) joint with feeling 
it takes too long to walk (25%) and the weather (17%).  

The same top three reasons are produced when looking at just those who said they do not 
currently travel on foot (with the exception of ‘weather’) although taking too long to walk 
is ranked higher for these respondents (31%). 

A small proportion (9%) of these current non-users said nothing stops them travelling on 
foot.  

 

P
age 85



Ranking the proposed scenarios Ranking the proposed scenarios ––  overall overall   

Option C – restricting congestion without charging – was most likely to chosen as 
respondents’ first choice measure to tackle congestion (39%).   

Those travelling into or across York for work were more likely (41%) to choose option C 
than those that don’t work or travel to work (37%).  

For ease of interpretation, Appendix 1 breaks down these results by sub-postcode area in 
data form and Annex C to the main report provides a break down in map form. 
 

 P
age 86



Ranking the proposed scenarios Ranking the proposed scenarios ––  nonnon--residents residents   

 
A breakdown of responses by respondents completing their survey on behalf of a 
business and those who are non-CYC residents is shown below.  
 
Please note that base sizes are small.  
 

 

P
age 87



Prioritising alternative measures Prioritising alternative measures ––  the top threethe top three  

 
The survey explained that if the council is not given the funding to implement the scenarios 
completely, it will need to prioritise a set of measures.    

Respondents were asked to tick their top five preferences from a list of ten measures. 
Improving local bus services to meet residents’ needs was the most frequently chosen 
option (69%), followed by measures to reduce the size and number of delivery vehicles 
coming into the city (66%).  

P
age 88



Prioritising alternative measuresPrioritising alternative measures  

All options are ranked in the 
adjacent chart. 

 

Those that use a bike to get into 
and around York or who cycle to 
work into or across the city were 
more likely to want the council to 
prioritise improving cycle routes prioritise improving cycle routes 
from rural villages than 
respondents who use other forms 
of transport.  

 

For ease of interpretation, 
Appendix 2 breaks down these 
results by sub-postcode area in 
data form and Annex C to the 
main report provides a break 
down in map form.  

P
age 89



Prioritising alternative measures Prioritising alternative measures ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

P
age 90



Differences by area Differences by area ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

 In order to robustly analyse significant differences between postcode areas, sub-postcodes have been broken down 
into the following seven categories: 

 

 

  

 ·  City Centre (YO1 7), (YO1 9), (YO1 6), (YO1 8) 
 

·  Near City Centre (YO31 7), (YO30 7), (YO26 4), (YO24 4), 
(YO24 1), (YO23 1), (YO10 4) 
 

·  Medium urban (YO31 8), (YO31 9), (YO31 1), (YO31 0),  

(YO30 6), (YO26 5), (YO24 3), (YO24 2), (YO10 5), (YO10 3) 
  

·  Urban fringe (YO32 4), (YO30 5), (YO30 4), (YO32 9)  
 

·  Large out of town community (YO32 2), (YO32 3), (YO26 6), 
(YO23 3), (YO23 7)  
 

·  Medium out of town village (YO19 5), (YO19 6), (YO23 2), 
(YO41 4), (YO26 9) 
 

·  Very rural (YO19 4), (YO26 8), (YO30 1), (YO41 5), (YO41 1), 
(YO60 7), (YO61 1), (YO30 2), (YO32 5) 

P
age 91



Differences by area Differences by area ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

     Further analysis shows that: 

• The further away a respondent lives from the city centre, the less likely they are to say they work or 
commute to work in or across York (Q1) 

• Respondents who live in large,medium and rural out of town communities are more likely to travel to work 
by car (Q2): 72% compared to 45% average of all other areas 

• Respondents who live in or near the city centre or in medium or fringe urban areas are more likely to travel 
to work by bike (Q2): 26% compared to 13% of large,medium and rural out of town communities 

• Those who live in or near the city centre are more likely to walk to work (22%) than those in other areas 
(6% average) 

• The further away a respondent lives from the city centre, the more likely they are to say they regularly take 
children to school/nursery by car (Q3) children to school/nursery by car (Q3) 

• The further away a respondent lives from the city centre, the further they travel to school/nursery (Q4b): 
21% travel more than 5 miles compared to 12% average of all other areas 

• Respondents who live in in or near the city centre are more likely to say they use a bike to travel into and 
around York for any type of journey (Q5): 46% compared to 31% average of all other areas 

• Respondents who live in large,medium and rural out of town communities are more likely to say that no off-
road routes near home, no secure cycle parking at destination, not feeling it is safe to cycle and too far to 
cycle prevents them travelling by bike (Q6b) compared to those nearer the city centre  

• Respondents who live in or near the city centre were more likely to choose Option D as their first choice 
scenario – Restricting congestion with charging (Q7): 36% compared to 26% average of all other areas  

• Respondents who live in or near the city centre were more likely to choose to give more road space to 
sustainable forms of transport, invest in campaigns to encourage walking and cycling and substantially 
improve cycle routes as alternative options (Q8) compared to all other areas 

• Respondents who live in large,medium and rural out of town communities were more likely to choose 
improving cycling routes from rural villages and improve the northern and western outer ring road junctions. 

 

P
age 92



Differences by gender Differences by gender ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

 Further analysis shows that men were statistically more likely than women: 

 

• To say they do not work or commute to work in or across York (Q1): 33% compared to 26% of women 

• To make the majority of their journey to work by bike (Q2): 26% compared to 19% of women 

• To say they travel by car for school/nursery journeys because of a lack of/infrequent/indirect bus service 
(Q4a): 17% compared to 9% of women 

• To use a car to travel into and around York for any type of journey (Q5): 82% compared to 76% of women 

• To use a moped/motorbike/electric bike to travel into and around York for any type of journey (Q5): 5% 
compared to 1% of women compared to 1% of women 

• To use a bike to travel into and around York for any type of journey (Q5): 39% compared to 31% of women 

• To say that nothing prevents them travelling by bus (Q6a): 36% compared to 27% of women 

• To say that nothing prevents them travelling by bike (Q6b): 27% compared to 17% of women 

• To say that no secure cycle parking at destination prevents them travelling by bike (Q6b): 7% compared to 
6% of women 

• To say that nothing prevents them travelling on foot (Q6c): 38% compared to 31% of women 

• To choose Option B – Easing movement around the city and Option D – Restricting congestion with charging 
(Q7): 21%/19% and 29%/26% respectively) as their first choice scenario (Q7) 

• To choose investing in an additional Park & Ride site on Wetherby Road (47%/44%), improving the northern 
and western outer ring road junctions (64%/59%) and invest in rail transport links to York (35%/31%) as 
alternative options (Q8) 

P
age 93



Differences by gender Differences by gender ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

 Further analysis shows that women were statistically more likely than men: 

 

• To make the majority of their journey to work by bus (Q2): 8% compared to 5% of men 

• To make the majority of their journey to work on foot (Q2): 15% compared to 10% of men 

• To regularly take children to school/nursery by car (Q3): 10% compared to 7% of men 

• To say they travel by car for school/nursery journeys because they are dropping off children on the 
way to work (Q4a): 61% compared to 49% of men 

• To say that all reasons listed in the survey prevent them travelling by bus, with the exception of 
‘walking distance to destination’ (Q6a) ‘walking distance to destination’ (Q6a) 

• To say that all reasons listed in the survey prevent them travelling by bike, with the exception of ‘no 
secure parking at destination’ (Q6b) 

• To say that all reasons listed in the survey prevent them travelling on foot (Q6c) 

• To choose Option A – Tackling commuting into and through the city and Option C – Restricting 
congestion without charging (14%/12% and 41%/36% respectively) as their first choice scenario 
(Q7) 

• To choose establishing a freight depot on the outskirts of the city (68%/64%), invest in supporting 
local bus services (73%/65%) and invest in local bus service vehicles (73%/65%) as alternative 
options (Q8) 

P
age 94



Differences by age Differences by age ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

 Further analysis shows that respondents age over 55 years were statistically more likely than 
younger respondents: 

 

• To say they do not work or commute to work in or across York (Q1): 55% compared to 6% average of all 
other age groups 

• To make the majority of their journey to work by car (Q2): 58% compared to 37% average of all other age 
groups and bus: 9% compared to 4% average of all other age groups  

• To say they travel by car for school/nursery journeys because of safety concerns (Q4a): 23% compared to 
5% average of all other age groups  

• To use the Park & Ride (drive to P&R) to travel into and around York for any type of journey (Q5): 22% 
compared to 7% average of all other age groups 

• To say that carrying equipment/heavy bags prevents them travelling by bus (Q6a): 21% compared to 18% 
average of all other age groups 

• To say that not owning a bike, mobility problems and health or age prevent them travelling by bike (Q6b) 

• To say that taking too long to walk, mobility and health problems or age prevent them travelling on foot 
(Q6c) 

• To choose Option B – Easing movement around the city as their first choice scenario (Q7): 23% compared to 
15% average of all other age groups 

• To choose establishing a freight depot on the outskirts of the city (71%/43% average of all other age 
groups), investing in an additional Park & Ride site on Wetherby Road (51%/29% average of all other age 
groups), invest in supporting local bus services (74%/63% average of all other age groups) and investing in 
local bus service vehicles and infrastructure (58%/43% average of all other age groups) as alternative 
options (Q8) 

P
age 95



Differences by age Differences by age ––  further analysisfurther analysis  

 Further analysis shows that respondents age over 55 years were statistically less likely than 
younger respondents: 

 

• To say they regularly take children to school/nursery by car (Q4a): 3% compared to 23% average of all 
other age groups 

• To use a bike to travel into and around York for any type of journey (Q5): 25% compared to 57% average of 
all other age groups 

• To travel on foot into and around York for any type of journey (Q5): 47% compared to 72% average of all 
other age groups 

• To say that cost, frequency of service, reliability and changing buses on their journey prevents them 
travelling by bus (Q6a) 

• To say that weather prevents them travelling on foot (Q6a): 16% compared to 27% average of all other age 
groups 

• To choose substantially improving cycle routes, improving cycle routes from rural villages, give more space to 
sustainable forms of transport such as cycles and buses and invest in rail transport links to York as 
alternative options (Q8) 

P
age 96



Differences between disabled/nonDifferences between disabled/non--disableddisabled  

 Further analysis shows that respondents who said they are disabled were statistically more 
likely than other respondents: 

 

• To say they do not work or commute to work in or across York (Q1): 61% compared to 26% of other 
respondents  

• To make the majority of their journey to work by car (Q2): 61% compared to 52% of other respondents  

• To make the majority of their journey to work by bus (Q2): 13% compared to 6% of other respondents 

• To say they travel by car for school/nursery journeys because of equipment/bags children need for school 
(Q4a): 28% compared to 9% of other respondents (Q4a): 28% compared to 9% of other respondents 

• To say that mobility/access issues, carrying heavy equipment and bags, the walking distance from home to 
the bus stop and walking distance to destination prevents them travelling by bus (Q6a) 

• To say that not owning a bike, mobility problems and health or age prevent them travelling by bike (Q6b) 

• To say that mobility and health problems or age prevent them travelling on foot (Q6c) 

• To choose Option A – Tackling commuting into and through the city (16% compared to 14% of other 
respondents) and Option B – Easing movement around the city (26% compared to 23% of other 
respondents) as their first choice scenario compared (Q7) 

• To choose establishing a freight depot on the outskirts of the city (74%/54% average of other respondents), 
investing in an additional Park & Ride site on Wetherby Road (49%/45% average of other respondents), 
invest in supporting local bus services (72%/68% average of other respondents) and investing in local bus 
service vehicles and infrastructure (57%/51% average of other respondents) as alternative options (Q8) 

P
age 97



      ConclusionsConclusions  

• Car journeys are currently a predominant feature of many York residents’ journeys to work although 
the data suggests that some, younger and more able residents are walking where they can  

• Convenience is a key factor in respondents’ choice of transport – journeys to nurseries and schools 
are combined with travel to work, so if residents drive to work, even relatively short distances to 
childcare are made by a driver 

• There is potential to encourage some residents to use alternative methods of transport, particularly 
buses where more than one in ten current non-users said nothing stops them. These ‘nothing stops 
me’ responses suggest an entrenched, unconscious perception of travel by bus, bike or on foot is a 
barrier to change 

• The perceived safety of cycling in the city compared to other forms of transport is a key barrier to 
this mode of transport, arguably more so than access to a bicycle 

• The data suggests that improving local bus services may increase their usage amongst residents. 
Cost is likely to be a key factor as this was the biggest barrier for current non-users of buses. 
Currently, those working outside of the YO area are not generally using buses to travel to work for 
the majority of their journey 

• The largest proportion of respondents chose Option C – restricting congestion without charging - as 
their preference for tackling congestion. The option specifying charging at Q7, Option D, was more 
likely to be chosen by those who are least likely to be charged should this be implemented i.e. those 
living in or near the city centre. It is important to note that both Option A and Option B also include 
the potential for charging as part of their expanded description included in the survey. As we cannot, 
however, determine how many respondents referred to this section of the survey booklet before 
answering Q7 and charging is one option within A and B (as opposed to the definitive charging 
element of Option D) these results must be treated with caution.  

 

P
age 98



AppendicesAppendices  P
age 99



Appendix 1: Appendix 1:   

Q7 ranking options Q7 ranking options ––  subsub--postal area figurespostal area figures  

P
age 100



Q7 Ranking options Q7 Ranking options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

The tables below show a further breakdown of responses by area (these are split across three 
slides). The percentages shown are based out of the ten York city area postcodes, so excluding all 
out of York city and blank postcode responses. Please note that some areas, although highlighted in 
the top 5, have a small base size. 

P
age 101



Q7 Ranking options Q7 Ranking options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

P
age 102



Q7 Ranking options Q7 Ranking options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

P
age 103



Appendix 2: Appendix 2:   

Q8 alternative options Q8 alternative options ––  subsub--postal area figurespostal area figures  

P
age 104



Q8 Alternative options Q8 Alternative options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

P
age 105



Q8 Alternative options Q8 Alternative options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

P
age 106



Q8 Alternative options Q8 Alternative options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

P
age 107



Q8 Alternative options Q8 Alternative options ––  further area analysisfurther area analysis  

P
age 108



 

 

  
 

   
 
 Scrutiny Management Committee 28 June 2010 

 Audit & Governance Committee 29 June 2010 
 Report of the Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 

 
Annual Scrutiny Report 2009-10 

Summary 

1. This report presents the annual scrutiny report from Scrutiny Services for the 
period May 2009 – May 2010.  

 Background 

2. This committee is charged with monitoring overall performance in relation to 
scrutiny review work and providing an annual report to Full Council.  The last 
annual report was produced in early 2009, and was followed by a number of 
significant changes to the scrutiny function in York.  The most significant change 
being the formation of a number of cross-cutting overview and scrutiny committees 
based on the themes of the council’s corporate strategy. 

3. This annual report is the first to provide public information on the work of these 
new committees.  

Consultation  

4. The Chair of Scrutiny Management Committee from the last municipal year has 
been asked to provide an introduction to the annual report and the Chairs of the 
new committees have been asked to contribute to the individual committees pages 
within the report – shown at Annex A.   

5. At its meeting on 29 June 2010, the Audit & Governance Committee is being 
invited to consider this Annual Scrutiny Report to comment on the overall 
effectiveness of our overview & scrutiny programme. 

  
Options  

6. Having considered the Annual Report, Members may choose to:  
 

• approve the report for presentation to the meeting of Full Council in July 2010 
• agree any amendments required to the report prior to its presentation to Full 

Council 
 
Analysis 
 

7. The report provides readers with an understanding of the revised overview and 
scrutiny function in York, how to get involved in the scrutiny process and what to 

Agenda Item 5Page 109



 

expect from overview & scrutiny in the next twelve months.  It also explains how 
each of the scrutiny reviews completed during the last municipal year, supported 
the council’s Corporate Strategy. 

 
Corporate Priorities 

8. The production of an annual Scrutiny Report supports the following direction 
statement of the Council -  ‘We will promote cohesive and inclusive 
communities’.  Within the report, there is information on how each of the 
completed reviews supported the council’s improvement priorities and direction 
statements. 

 Implications 

9. The are no known Legal, HR and financial implication associated with the 
recommendation within this report, other than the costs of producing and 
publishing the Annual Scrutiny Report, which will be met from within the existing 
scrutiny budget. 

Risk Management 
 

10. There are no known risks associated with the recommendation in this report. 
 

 Recommendations 

11. Having considered the information within this covering report and Annex A, 
Members are asked to approve the Annual Scrutiny Report which covers the 
period between May 2009 and May 2010 

Reason: To enable its presentation to Full Council, in line with Constitutional 
requirements 

Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the report: 

Melanie Carr 
Scrutiny Officer 
Scrutiny Services 
Tel No. 01904 552063 

Andrew Docherty 
Head of Civic, Democratic & Legal Services 

Report Approved üüüü Date 16 June 2010 
 
Specialist Implications Officer(s)  - None 
 

Wards Affected:   All üüüü 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers:  None 
 
Annexes: 
Annex A – Annual Scrutiny Report 2009 –10 

Page 110



Scrutiny Annual Report 
2009-10

City of York 
Council

Overview & 
Scrutiny

Committees

York  
Economic
Partnership

NHS North
Yorkshire & 

York

North
Yorks Fire 
& Rescue

York
Environment
Partnership

North
Yorkshire

Police

Lifelong
Learning

Partnership

Jobcentre
Plus 

York & North 
Yorks Chamber 
of Commerce

York @ 
Large

Inclusive
York

Forum

Safer York 
Partnership

City Of York 

Council Services 

City of York  
Council

Overview
&

Scrutiny
Committees

Healthy City 
Board 

Higher
York  

Partnership

York Racial 
Equality
Network 

Jobcentre
Plus

Scrutinising the work of the Council & its Partners 

Page 111



Overview & Scrutiny
Annual Report 2009-10 

            Contents 

Introduction                                                   3 

          The role of Overview & Scrutiny         4

          Getting Involved        6

          The Overview & Scrutiny Committees:

          Effective Organisation           8
           
          Health                                            10

          Learning and Culture    12

          Traffic Congestion Ad-hoc Scrutiny Committee           14

          Economic and City Development                 16

          Councillor Calls for Action                     18

          Water End Review 

          Broadway Shops Review 
           
          Community Safety       20

          Scrutinising Crime and Disorder Issues In York                   22

           
          Who is Involved in Scrutiny                                           23 

                                                    
                                                    

Page 112



Introduction

Awaiting Intro info 

Cllr Paul Healey 

Councillor Paul Healy 
Chair of the Scrutiny Management Committee
Page 113



The Role of Overview & Scrutiny 

What is Overview & Scrutiny? 

Overview & Scrutiny plays a central role in 
ensuring that Councils have open and 
accountable democratic arrangements in place. 

The Local 
Government Act 
2000 set out to 
modernise local 
government by 
ending the
traditional
committee system 
and replacing it 
with a system 
where decisions 
are taken by a 
small group of 
councillors known 
as Executive 
Members - similar 
to the Cabinet in 
central
government.

Councillors who are not members of the 
Executive are known as non-executive members.  
They act as ‘watchdogs’ by examining Executive 
decisions and the policies and performance of the 
Council.  They look at where they think things 
could be improved for residents and make  
recommendations to the Executive - this function 
is called ‘Overview and Scrutiny’. 

Overview & Scrutiny is designed to be non-party 
political - all Overview & Scrutiny Committees 
must be politically balanced and chaired by a 
member of one of the opposition parties.   

Overview & Scrutiny Committees in York 
Scrutiny Management Committee 

The Scrutiny Management Committee (SMC) is 
responsible for managing and co-ordinating the 
overview & scrutiny function.  It meets periodically 
throughout the year to: 

• consider proposals for corporate priorities 

• receive bi-annual reports from the Scrutiny 
Committees on progress against their 
workplans

• consider and comment on any final reports 
arising from completed reviews produced by 
the Scrutiny Committees, prior to their 
submission to the Executive 

• advise the Executive on the development of the 
Sustainable Corporate Strategy and monitor its 
overall delivery 

• provide an annual report to the Council on the 
work of the overview and scrutiny function

• periodically review the overview and scrutiny 
procedures to ensure that the function is 
operating effectively and recommend any 
constitutional changes, to Council 

• Consider and recommend to Council a budget 
for Scrutiny and then monitor the allocated 
budget on a regular basis

• Allocate responsibility for issues which fall 
between more than one of the Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees 

• consider any pre or post Executive or 
Executive Member decisions, or key decisions 
delegated to an officer that are ‘called-in’

Call-in 

Any three councillors can ‘call-in’ an Executive 
Member/ Executive decision or officer ‘key’ 
decision either pre– decision or post-decision  
(no later than 10 am on the day before the decision 
or up to two working days after the publication of 
the decision). 

Page 114



Once submitted, a meeting of the Scrutiny 
Management Committee will be held to consider 
the call-in—not later than two days after the 
decision has been taken.  

Overview & Scrutiny Committees  

In addition, there are five Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees with remits designed around the 
’Local Area Agreement’ themes: 

• Effective Organisation 
• Economic & City 

Development
• Learning & Culture 
• Community Safety 
• Health

Each committee is supported by a Scrutiny Officer 
and receives technical advice from senior officers 
within Council Directorates.

In carrying out their individual remit , each  
Overview & Scrutiny Committee must ensure their 
work promotes inclusiveness and sustainability, 
and the priorities identified in the Council’s  
Corporate Strategy.

Ways of Working
At the beginning of every municipal year, each 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee agrees an annual 
work programme, and throughout the year, they 
monitor finance and performance within the 
service areas specific to their individual remits, 
and carry out scrutiny reviews on agreed topics. 

Formal meetings and reports are an important 
part of the Overview & Scrutiny function, but 
where appropriate the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees will often adopt less formal methods 
e.g.:

• Carry out site visits

• Attend/observe other group’s meetings e.g. 
Nuisance Action Group, Federation of 
Tenants and Residents Associations

• Hold informal discussions with residents 
and/or officers e.g. 2 councillors visiting a 
resident, or meeting with an officer 

• Create a ‘Task Group’ from its members to 
discuss a particular issue and report back to 
the full Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

• Hold open ‘drop in’ sessions 

• Invite external witnesses to inform and 
widen the perspective 

• Invite experts to give presentations / host 
seminars

Each committee can choose to ‘co-opt’ extra 
members if they have particular expertise (either 
on a permanent basis or for the duration of a 
specific scrutiny review), except in the case of the 
Learning & Culture Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee, for which it is statutory to have
co-optees representing parents and religious 
groups.

For each scrutiny review undertaken, the relevant 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee monitors the 
implementation of the recommendations 
approved by the Executive, until such time as 
they are fully implemented.

Page 115



Getting Involved 
Submitting a Topic 
In order to submit a topic, a topic registration form 
must be completed , either on-line or by 
completing a paper copy.  To request a form, 
please contact Scrutiny Services on Tel No. 
01904 551088.  

The registration form is designed to help the 
person proposing the topic to develop a clear and 
concise description of the topic, give their view on 
its importance, and provide all the relevant 
background information needed - the more 
detailed the information provided , the easier it will 
be for the relevant Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee to decide to carry out a review and 
agree a purposeful remit outlining the objectives 
and scope for the review.   

Once received,  a feasibility report will be 
produced,  summarising the topic, explaining how 
it fits with the following eligibility criteria: 

i. Public Interest (ie. in terms of both proposals 
being in the public interest and resident 
perceptions)

ii.  Under Performance / Service 
Dissatisfaction

iii. In keeping with the priorities 
within the Corporate
Strategy

iv. Level of Risk 
v.  Service Efficiency 

As a general rule, topics will only proceed to 
review if they meet three of the eligibility criteria.  
However, where it is adequately demonstrated 
that a topic is of significant public interest and fits 
with the first criteria but does not meet three, the 
relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committee may still 
decide to allocate the topic for review. 

Possible topics for scrutiny review can be 
submitted by members of the public or by 
a Councillor.  

Topics 
It is important to recognise what kind of topics are 
appropriate for Overview & Scrutiny.

A number of factors need to be considered before 
a Committee makes their decision to carry out a 
review.  These might include: 

• How the issue was brought to the attention of 
Overview & Scrutiny e.g. through Members 
surgeries or other constituency activities, an 
unresolved ‘Councillor Call for Action’ (CCfA), 
through external audit or an Inspectorate 
Report e.g. ‘Best Value’, or by a member of 
the public who has been unable to resolve an 
issue by other means e.g. the complaints 
procedure

• The importance of the issue to the people of 
York e.g. public interest highlighted in local 
media or a high level of public/user 
dissatisfaction with a service

• The potential benefits of carrying out the 
review

• The urgency of the topic (see below), and 
whether it:  
a) highlights a pattern of budgetary over / 

under spending 
b) supports a CYC corporate priority 
c) provides policy development opportunities 

Urgency 
A topic is considered urgent if there is a strict time 
constraint i.e. an event about to occur or presently 
occurring, or if it is of high visibility, such as an 
issue that has strong media interest or public 
pressures to respond.  

Page 116



“ I attended Monday night’s meeting expecting to be highly critical of the proposals,  but was pleasantly 
surprised at the thought and consideration  the committee gave to the matter, and by the measured and 
analytical response”      Participant in Traffic Congestion Review

If the topic doesn’t fit easily into the scope of a 
single committee, the topic registration form will 
be considered by the Scrutiny Management 
Committee (SMC) who will decide which 
Committee should receive and consider it.  

Carrying out a Review
An Overview & Scrutiny Committee may choose 
to carry out the review as a whole or create a 
‘Task Group’ from within their membership, to 
carry out the review on their behalf.

Alternatively a Task Group can be formed to 
examine specific aspects of a review and report 
back its findings to the Committee.   

A Committee may also appoint non-voting co-
optees for the duration of a review.  Such co-
optees will be chosen for their relevant 
professional knowledge and expertise, or to 
ensure that the views of local residents or 
interested parties are represented.   

Public Participation 
City of York Council has adopted a public 
participation scheme which encourages residents 
to attend its meetings and participate.

Residents are welcome to come along and 
observe any public meeting and may choose to 
contribute to the debate and express their views 
by registering to speak.   

To register to speak at a meeting, contact 
Democratic Services on 01904 551088 by 5pm on 
the (working) day before the meeting. 

Consultation  
A committee may  choose to carry out a 
consultation exercise to gather relevant views 
from interested parties. 

They may also ask any relevant external 
consultants / witnesses to attend to address them 
on any matter under consideration .

Witness Charter 

The Council will: 

1      inform the witness of the time, date and 
place of the scrutiny meeting at which their 
evidence is to be taken. 

2      inform the witnesses of the matters about 
which the scrutiny committee wish to ask 
them. Inform the witnesses of any 
documents that the scrutiny committee 
wish to have produced for them. 

3      provide reasonable notice of all of the 
requirements of the scrutiny committee to 
enable the witness to respond in full at the 
earliest opportunity. 

4      provide copies of all relevant reports, 
papers and background information. 

5      arrange for the Chair of the scrutiny 
meeting to introduce him/herself to the 
witness prior to the proceedings. 

6      ensure that all witnesses are treated with 
courtesy and respect and that all questions 
to witnesses are made in an orderly 
manner as directed by the Chair of the 
meeting.

7      ensure where appropriate that the witness 
is provided with information about claiming 
witness expenses. 

8      following the proceedings, write to the 
witness and where appropriate, inform 
them of the outcome.

9      the Council’s protocol on Officer/Member 
relations will apply to all internal witnesses. 

Attending a Scrutiny Committee meeting as a wit-
ness is voluntary and often a new experience for 
people. The City of York Council recognises the 
need to support witnesses and will keep wit-
nesses informed throughout the scrutiny process 
to try and ensure that the experience is as stress 
free as possible.  With this in mind, the Council 
has in place a ‘Witness Charter’.

Page 117



Effective Organisation Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee
Introduction
This new scrutiny committee was formed as part of the process to replace the ex-
ecutive members‛ advisory panels. The committee members quickly adapted to their 
new role and worked well together to help promote improved organisation within the 
Council. Only a few topics were covered in depth during this first year, which was a 
deliberate aim in order to ensure that ‘less was more‛. 

Cllr Watt, Chair 

Committee’s Remit 

The Effective Organisation Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee was set up to promote a 
culture of continuous improvement across all 
Council service areas. It monitors efficiency 
across organisational/service boundaries to 
promote a seamless approach to service 
delivery. 

Annual Work Programme 
Throughout the year, the Committee received 
quarterly finance and performance monitoring  
reports, identifying issues specific to their remit for 
closer inspection, and resulting in a number of 
key reports relating to: 

• CYC’s Improvement Plan for 2009/10 
• Risk Management 
• Annual Audit for 2008/09 
• CYC’s 2010/11 Budget Strategy & Medium 

Term  Financial Planning for 2011/12 to 
2013/14

During the year, the Committee were pleased to 
meet with the Executive Leader and the Executive 
Member for Corporate Services, and received 
training on Local Government Finance to enable 
their effective scrutiny of financial management 
within the council. They also carried out a number 
of scrutiny reviews. 

The Effectiveness of the Executive  
Forward Plan Review 

For some time, Councillors had been expressing 
concern about their inability to identify suitable 
topics for pre-decision scrutiny in order to help 
shape future council policy and practice.

Finally, the Committee recognised there was a 
general lack of awareness of and support for 
scrutiny across the organisation, and identified 
that an effective support system was required in 
order to raise its profile. As a result, they therefore 
recommended improvements to the level of 
appropriate engagement between overview & 
scrutiny committees, Executive Members and the 
council’s corporate management team.  

Members decided to 
review the use of the 
Executive Forward 
Plan and as a result, 
identified a number 
of legal requirements 
that needed address-
ing and a number of 
format changes that 
would make the plan 

more accessible and user-friendly to the
organisation and the public.  

Page 118



“It's been a great opportunity to experience many areas of  
Council business and get my teeth into some interesting projects.  
I fully expect to be able to apply the learning from the scheme in
every job I subsequently have"  

City of York Council Graduate Trainee 

Key Outcomes 

•  The council’s Executive Forward Plan now  
reflects the full requirements of the legislation 

• The profile of scrutiny across the council
has been raised and each scrutiny committee 
now receives dedicated senior officer support 

• The Council now has an effective workforce 
plan, which recognises the need to increase 
the number of young people being employed 
by the Council, and will ensure the right staff 
with the right skills are employed in the right 
places to deliver the right services to 
customers

• A reporting structure to measure the 
effectiveness and outturn of apprenticeships 
and other work based training is now in place.  

 Committee Members 
Councillors Watt (Chair), Horton (Vice-Chair), Boyce,  
D’Agorne, Firth,  Gunnell, Hyman, R Watson 

  Councillor Watt 
  Chair of the Effective Organisation
  Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Chair’s Conclusion 

With the Committee now firmly 
established and experienced in the role 
of scrutiny, it will move forward in this 
period of economic difficulties with 
increasing effectiveness to ensure that 
the City of York Council‛s organisation 
meets the expectations of York‛s 
citizens.

Cllr Watt   

CYC Apprenticeships & Other Work 
Based Learning Opportunities Review 

The Committee recognised the demographic of 
the council’s workforce was not representative of 
the community of York, with only around 337 
employees under the age of 25.  With that in 
mind, they looked at the arrangements currently 
in place within CYC for offering work experience 
and apprenticeships to young people, and the 
external funding opportunities that could be 
accessed to increase their numbers. 

As part of the review, the Committee considered 
the draft of a Corporate Workforce Plan for 
2010-12, and  were pleased to find the plan  
included a diversity objective ‘to help build an  
inclusive culture in which all are treated with  
dignity and respect’, together with supporting 
actions to : 

• increase the number of young people under 
25 years old working for the council: 

• increase the number of apprenticeships 
offered to young people,  

• to develop a programme of short internships 
for local young people who are Not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET).

The reviews completed by this committee 
in 2009-10, have supported the council’s 
Corporate Strategy in a number of ways 
by aiming to: 

• improve the Council’s organisational 
effectiveness i.e. ‘to be a modern 
council with high standards in all it 
does, living up to its values and being 
a great place to work and; 

• Ensure employment rates remain high 
and that local people benefit from new 
job opportunities 

C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

Page 119



Health Overview &Scrutiny
Committee
Introduction

Awaiting info 

Cllr Alexander, Chair 

Remit
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 
undertakes all of the Council’s statutory functions 
under section 7 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001, and section 244 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006.  These include: 

• appointing members, from within the 
membership of the Committee, to any joint 
overview & scrutiny Committees with other 
local authorities, as directed under the 
National Health Service Act 2006. 

• reviewing & scrutinising the impact of the 
services and policies of key partners, on the 
health of the city’s population 

• reviewing the arrangements made by the 
Council and local NHS bodies for public health 
within the city.

As well as reviewing and developing relevant 
Council policies, it reports and makes 
recommendations to the local NHS body or other 
local providers of services

It can also report to the Secretary of State for 
Health; 

a. Where the Committee is concerned that 
consultation on substantial variation or 
development of service has been 
inadequate 

b.   Where the Committee considers that the 
proposals are not in the interests of the health 
service

Annual Work Programme 
Throughout the year, the Committee received 
quarterly City of York Council finance and  
performance monitoring reports, covering: 

Adult Social Services i.e. 

• Adults (older 
people, people 
with physical 
disabilities & 
sensory
impairments)

• Adults’ mental 
health

• Adults’ learning 
disability

During the year the, Committee were pleased to 
receive a presentation from the Executive 
Member for Housing & Adult Social Services on 
safeguarding, personalisation and the outcomes 
of, and progress in relation to, the CSCI 
(Commission for Social Care Inspection) 2008  
report., and to learn about his forthcoming  
priorities.

The Committee also received the following 
reports on : 

• Relevant Key Performance Indicators to this 
Committee’s remit 

• Updates on the implementation of the  
         recommendations arising from the dementia 
         review 

• The Care Quality Commission’s new
         arrangements for registration 

• Updates on dental services in York 

Page 120



“Quote” - Awaiting Info 

        
       Committee Members 
        Members: Councillors Alexander (Chair), Wiseman (Vice-Chair),  
       Aspden, Fraser, S Galloway, Simpson-Laing, Sunderland 
         

Councillor J Alexander 
Chair of the Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Other Issues Considered
The Committee also received information on a 
proposed scrutiny topic regarding the care of  
new mothers and their newborn children.  They 
deferred the decision on whether to proceed  
with this topic until 2010/11.

The Committee also continued its work on 
understanding its relationship with Local 
Involvement Networks (LINks) 

LINks are the independent, formally constituted 
bodies that have replaced the Patient and Public 
Involvement Forums, previously attached to all 
local NHS Trusts. They have been established 
within each local authority area in the country.   

It received a number of update reports which 
outlined the steps and measures needed, and the 
progress made to ensure that LINks establishes 
an effective working relationship with the Council 
via this Committee. 

Conclusion

Awaiting Info….. 

Cllr Alexander 

• an Executive referral on overspends in Adult 
Social Services.  After considering detailed 
information on this , the Committee decided 
a full scrutiny review was not required.

Finally, they received presentations from NHS 
North Yorkshire and York on ‘Transforming 
Community Services’, the Individual Funding 
Request Panel and ‘A 
Child’s First 6 Months: 
their expected health  
input both now & in the 
future’.

Childhood Obesity Review
In July 2009, a report on the Corporate Strategy 
Key Performance Indicators relevant to the 
Committee’s remit, raised concern about the 
levels of obesity among primary school age 
children in Reception Year, and among primary 
school age children in Year 6.  As a result, the 

Committee agreed to 
undertake a review to 
look at whether 
current service 
provision was 
effectively reducing 
childhood obesity in 
the city. 

This review is still 
ongoing and is likely to be completed early in the 
2010/2011 municipal year. 

The Obesity Scrutiny Review
supports the council’s Corporate 
Strategy by aiming to encourage  
people to make healthier choices and  
ensuring that health and social care 
services are quick to respond to 
those that need them. 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E

The key outcomes arising from the 
Childhood Obesity Review are  

expected in early 2010/11

Page 121



Learning and Culture Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
Introduction

It was a privilege but a challenge to take on the role of Chair of a brand new Scrutiny Committee - 
namely the Learning and Culture Scrutiny committee. To get our heads round the brief we had sev-
eral introductory sessions with both officers and Executive members to try and assess the nature 
and width of our brief. The Committee  recognised it was an important part of our work to talk to 
the Executive members, the Chair of York at Large and other partners. 

Cllr Looker, Chair 

Annual Work Programme  
Throughout the year, the Committee received 
quarterly finance and performance monitoring
reports specific to their remit , and following a 
referral from the Executive, they considered 
detailed information on an overspend on ‘Looked 
After’ children.

They also received bi-annual reports from York 
Theatre Royal and the Yorkshire Museums Trust 
Partnership giving performance updates for 
2009/10, together with a number of key reports 
relating to: 

• The Renaissance Team 
• York’s Play Policy ‘Taking Play Forward’ & 

the Playbuilder Initiative 
• A Draft Heritage Strategy 
• The Refurbishment of the Main Library 

In addition, the Committee were pleased to meet 
with the Executive Members for Children & Young 
People’s Services and Leisure, Culture & Social 
Inclusion, and the Chairs of Learning City and 
York@Large. 

Remit
The Learning and Culture Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee monitors the performance, 
achievements and developments of the service 
plan areas shown below: 

• Early Years 
• Schools & 

Communities
• Education

Development
Services

• School
Governance
Service

• Special
Educational Needs 

• Young People's 
Service

• Libraries & 
Heritage Services 

• Parks & Open Spaces 
• Sports & Active Leisure 
• Arts & Cultural Services 
• Adult Education,  Access Education Planning 

& Resources 

And, it identifies aspects of the Council’s 
operation relating to delivery of the above 
services in need of review.

Externally, the Committee scrutinises the
services provided to York’s residents by other 
service providers, as appropriate. 

Page 122



Key Outcomes 
A pilot scheme involving all relevant parties i.e. 
Play, Police, Housing, Parks & Open Spaces, 
Transport, Planning and the voluntary sector, 
was recommended  to : 

• trial ways of making a residential 
neighbourhood more child-friendly offering 
access to somewhere to play in freedom 
and safety and; 

• identify a suitable strategy for the provision 
of casual play opportunities, 

       Committee Members 
       Councillors Looker (Chair), Brooks (Vice-Chair), Aspden, Crisp, Douglas, 
        Hogg, Taylor, Waudby  

Councillor J Looker 
Chair of the Learning and Culture 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The Committee also monitored the
implementation of recommendations arising from 
a previously completed scrutiny review on a
proposed Cultural Quarter for the City, and
carried out a review of ‘Casual Play 
Opportunities’

Casual Play Opportunities Review
For a number of years 
there has been a growing 
focus on the importance of 
children being able to play.   
The Committee were 
therefore keen to look at 
casual play opportunities 
across the city to assess if 

there was any potential for improvements .

The review focussed on 
comparing the play 
opportunities for 5-13 year 
olds, within a number of 
residential areas; one city 
centre, one suburban  and 
one village.

As part of the review, the 
Committee carried out site 
visits to consult with local 
parents and were pleased to 
meet with representatives of York Playspace.

The findings showed that despite the type of 
residential area, the perceived barriers to play 
were the same – traffic, stranger danger, parents 
anxiety, space and quality of facilities. 

It was recognised that in some areas of the city 
there was zero tolerance towards children 
playing in open spaces near homes, and that a 
more positive attitude towards play was needed 
within communities.

Conclusion

I am looking forward to continuing the work 
of the Learning and Culture Scrutiny 
committee, with such a lot of change coming 
forward from a new government as well as the 
Council's own reorganisation it will be an 
opportunity for members to focus on how best 
to ensure real value for our York citizens - 
especially the children and young people in our 
communities - and work hard to ensure that 
we get the most out of our resources and our 
partnerships. 

Cllr Looker 

“Quote” - Awaiting Info 

Head of Play, CYC 

C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E

The Casual Play Review
supported the council’s Corporate 
Strategy by aiming to make York a 
safer city, providing opportunities for 
children to develop their skills and for 
communities to grow and thrive. 

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

Page 123



Traffic Congestion Ad-hoc  
Scrutiny Committee 
Introduction

It was always going to be a challenge taking on a review of this size and nature, but 
the Committee acknowledged the continuing priority that York residents place on 
tackling congestion and so worked hard to understand the potential future  
problems, what may or may not work, the scale of benefit and what the appropriate 
policy trade offs may be.  As part of the review, the Committee involved all relevant 
parties and carried out a city-wide consultation to gather residents views. 

Cllr Merrett, Chair 

Aim of Review 
To identify  ways of reducing present levels of 
traffic congestion in York, and ways of minimising 
the impact of the forecast traffic increase. 

Remit

Having regard to the impact of traffic congestion, 
the Committee were charged with recommending 
and prioritising specific 
improvements to:

• Economic
Performance

• Quality of Life 
• Road Safety
• CO² Emissions
• Air Quality, in particular looking at the five 

hotspots identified in the LTP2 
• Journey times & reliability of public transport 
• Accessibility to services, employment, 

education and health
• Alternative environmentally viable and 

financially practical methods of transport

The Committee carried out a comprehensive 
review of the Council’s current transport policies, 
as expressed through the authority’s 2nd Local 
Transport Plan and the ‘Access York’ initiative.

They also looked at their impact on meeting the 
anticipated traffic growth 
from the city’s continued 
economic success and 
housing expansion in York, 
against the objectives of the 
review and the views of York 

residents.
The Committee found that 56% of York’s 
commuting journeys were less than 3 miles, and 
therefore there was lots of room for improvements, 
in terms of undertaking more journeys by green 
and environmentally less damaging modes, car 
sharing and reducing congestion. 

Notwithstanding the many positive initiatives and 
measures being undertaken by the Council, the 
Committee recognised they would be insufficient to 
avoid significantly worsening traffic and congestion 
problems over the next decade or so, even with the 
short term effects of the current recession, which 
could both 
adversely affect 
quality of life in 
York and 
undermine the 
City’s future 
economic
success and well-
being.

Also, the anticipated growth in motorised traffic and 
congestion, despite vehicle efficiency 
improvements and modal shift, would lead to 
continuing air quality problems and increases in 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

The Committee identified that as a ‘Smart Choices’ 
approach had proven effective elsewhere and was 
high in value for money terms, there was a need to 
persuade individuals to make socially informed 
choices, requiring specific on-going public 
engagement and promotional strategy around 
‘Smart Choices’, including reinvigorating the Green 
Travel Plan approach with York employers and 

Page 124



organisations.

The Committee agreed that the broad overall 
solution to both congestion and the climate 
change challenge was a concerted approach 
using the hierarchy of measures outlined below: 

• Reduce the need to travel, and the length of 
journeys (through IT, land use planning 
policies and other solutions) 

• Undertake the maximum proportion of 
journeys by green and environmentally friendly 
modes

•  Optimise the uptake of car sharing 

• In short term, switch to lower carbon emission 
fuels, maximise engine efficiency and lower 
embedded carbon model  

•  In medium term switch to non-carbon based 
fuels (although need to be mindful of recent 
evidence that suggests growing crops for bio-
fuels may be contributing to third world 
deforestation and food shortages, hence 
affecting food prices) 

• Improve driving standards / training (for fuel 
efficiency and safety, and to make roads safer 
and more attractive to green travel modes)  

• Reduce congestion delays and engine idling in 

Key Outcomes  
Many of the recommendations arising from the 
review were fed into the city’s third Local 
Transport Plan draft (LTP3) which will address 
the city’s transport needs for the period 2011-
2016, including:  

• An urgent review of the Council’s bus 
strategy, taking into account the new 
powers in the recent transport act, so as to 
move towards a bus network that is 
completely integrated from the bus users 
point of view, including integrated ticketing 
and day round services 

• Funding the development of a 
comprehensive ‘Smart Choice’ package 
including personalised journey planning to 
maximise modal shift together with a re-
invigoration of ‘Travel Plans’, ensuring they 
are implemented, monitored and 
periodically updated 

More information on this review and a full list 
of the recommendations made, can be found 
at:

http://democracy.york.gov.uk/scrutiny services/
congestionreview

Conclusion 

The review highlighted the Committee‛s 
view that a major cultural change in the 
city is required if the massive challenge 
of rising traffic and congestion levels is 
to be addressed for the benefit of resi-
dents, visitors, and businesses.   

Cllr Merrett 

Councillor D Merrett 
Chair of the Traffic Ad-hoc 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

         Committee Members
         Councillors D Merrett (Chair), Hudson (Vice-Chair),  

Holvey, Orrell, Pierce, Simpson-Laing, Vassie

“The last thing we need in York is more traffic - I strongly  
believe that we should be aiming for zero growth in
motorised traffic in the future”          Resident Survey Response 

The Traffic Congestion Review
supported the council’s Corporate
Strategy in a number of ways: 

• by making York a cleaner and 
greener city and reducing the impact 
on the environment  

• By making the city a healthier, more 
sustainable and thriving city, where 
residents have improved access to 
education, employment and health 
services.

C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

Page 125



Economic & City Development
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Introduction

Awaiting info 

Cllr Pierce, Chair 

Newgate Market Review
The Committee undertook a review on Newgate 
Market (York’s daily market area) after a shortfall 
in income had been reported to the them through 
a finance and performance monitoring report. 

The overall aim of the review was to investigate
possible ways of improving the existing stall  
market and its surrounding area currently 
occupied by Newgate Market. This was as a 
contribution to the Renaissance Team’s work and 
the Footstreets Review, enabling them to 
recommend new designs and roles for Newgate 
Market and the associated public realm. 

The Committee visited the market during
operational hours and in the evening when the 
market traders had left for the day.   

The Committee received information on the 
Market from the City Centre Management Team. 
They have also received evidence on what 
constitutes a good market from a representative 
of the National Association of British Market 
Traders.  

This review is still ongoing and will be completed 
in 2010/11. 

Remit
The Economic and City Development Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee monitors the performance, 
achievements and developments of the service 
plan areas shown below: 

• Economic Development 
• Planning
• City Development &Transport 
• Housing Landlord 
• Housing General 
• Building Maintenance 

And, it identifies aspects of the Council’s operation 
relating to delivery of the above services in need of 
review, and scrutinises the services provided to the 
residents of York by other appropriate service 
providers.

Annual Work Programme
Throughout the year, the Committee received 
quarterly finance and performance monitoring  
reports, identifying issues specific to their remit for 
closer inspection. This resulted in a further report 
on the distribution of travel tokens being presented 
to the Committee for information.

During the year, the Committee were pleased to
hear from both the Leader of the Council and the 
Executive Member for City Strategy. 
The Committee also received reports on the
following: 

• Open letter from the York Environment
        Forum 
• Updates on recommendations arising from 

previous scrutiny reviews 
• The Economic Development Programme 

Page 126



“ Quote” - Awaiting Info 
Councillor R Pierce 

Chair of  Economic and City Development 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Other Issues Considered 
During the year, the Committee considered a 
number of other possible topics for review i.e.: 

• Implementation of 
Planning Conditions 
& Adoption of New 
Housing Estates

• Acceptance of Euros 
by York Businesses 

At the time, the 
Committee decided not to 
proceed with either of 
those reviews and agreed 
to reconsider them both at 
the beginning of the 
municipal year 2010/11. 

The Committee also 
received a report 
and presentation on 
‘Safe Access to 
Schools & School 
Travel Plans’.

Having agreed the review would need to look at 
some services outside the committee’s remit, they 
requested that Scrutiny Management Committee 
(SMC) set up a cross-cutting ad-hoc scrutiny 
committee to carry out the review.

SMC agreed with this approach and as a 
consequence, an Ad-hoc Scrutiny Committee was 
formed, made up of members from three of the 
standing Overview & Scrutiny Committees. 

The review will be commenced at the start of the 
new municipal year 2010/11. 

Finally, in the past year there have been two 
Councillor Calls for Actions (CCfAs) in York, both 
resulting in scrutiny reviews, which were carried 
out by this Committee - information on these can 
be found at pages 18-19.

Conclusion

Awaiting Info 

Cllr Pierce 

Committee Members
Councillors Pierce (Chair), Hudson (Vice-Chair),  
D’Agorne, Holvey, Hyman, Kirk, Potter, Scott

The key outcomes arising from the  
Newgate Market Review are  

expected early in 2010/11

The Newgate Market Review
supported the council’s Corporate  
Strategy by supporting York’s successful 
economy to make sure that employment 
rates remain high and that local people 
benefit from job opportunities.

It also touches on elements of the Sus-
tainable City and Effective Organisation 
themes in the Corporate Strategy 
2009/2012. 

C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

Page 127



Councillor Calls for Action 

In 2009-10, there were two CCfAs which 
resulted in scrutiny reviews.  Both of these 
were dealt with by the Economic & City 
Development Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

In each case, they formed a Task Group 
made up of four committee members, to 
carry out the review on their behalf, and at 
the end of each review, the full Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee considered the 
findings before endorsing the resulting 
recommendations to the Executive. 

Broadway Shops CCfA Scrutiny Review 
Ward Councillors raised this in relation to ongoing 
problems around maintenance, parking and 
safety issues at Broadway Shops. The problems 
were historic and the fact that the land in front of 
the shops was not owned by anyone complicated 
matters.

The aim of the review was therefore to define a 
safe pedestrian route across the shop frontages 
which was acceptable to all parties, and to 
investigate the possibility of removing/remodelling 
the traffic island in order to put a designated 
parking area in place, in the long term. 

In an effort to find a solution to the problems, the 
task group facilitated a number of meetings 
between the Council, local retailers, the 
Residents’ Association and the Ward Councillors. 

As a result it was agreed that a safe pedestrian 
walkway would be created in the area by painting 
a white line approximately 2m from the store 
fronts and strategically placing large flower tubs 
and cycle hoops to stop people parking too close 
to the shop fronts.  

Key Outcomes 
The Residents’ Association offered to pay for the 
works and an onsite meeting between all parties 
was arranged regarding where the items should 
be placed.

A further facilitated discussion will take place this 
summer to discuss whether the works undertaken 
have improved pedestrian safety and if further 
alterations will be needed. 

Ward Councillors play a central role in the life of a local authority, as a conduit for 
discussion between the Council and its residents and as a champion for local concerns.   
To strengthen a Councillor’s ability to carry out this role the Government enacted in the 
Local Government and Public Health Act 2007, provisions for a ‘Councillor Call for 
Action (CCfA)’.   This provides Councillors with the opportunity to ask for discussions at 
Scrutiny Committees on issues where local problems have arisen and where other 

Page 128



“We have made more progress in the last fifteen months than in the last fifteen years “ 
Broadway Shops Residents Association Member

Key Outcomes 
The Executive being asked to endorse:  

• That Council Officers urgently develop 
new, comprehensive proposals for the 
Water End junctions to improve the 
current junction and reduce greatly traffic 
flows in Westminster Road/The Avenue 

• That the Council should, in future, use 
traffic models which incorporate side 
streets when assessing and designing 
junction improvements 

• That the present policy of reviewing new 
highway schemes only after a period of 
twelve months should be modified to 
enable a review after three months when 
unforeseen consequences have arisen 
and when Ward Members request. 

Water End CCfA Scrutiny Review 
Following alterations to the junction at Water End 
and Clifton Green, Ward Councillors for Clifton 
responded to significant resident dissatisfaction  
by registering a CCFA. 

The changes to the 
junction were made 
as part of the 
implementation of 
the orbital cycle 
route for the city.

However, residents felt they had resulted in 
additional congestion in the area and an
increased use of Westminster Road and The 
Avenue by through traffic. 

The aim of the review was therefore to determine 
the best solution for the problems experienced by 
local residents, and to look at what lessons could 
be learnt in order to inform the implementation of 
similar schemes in the city, based on  the 
following key objectives: 

• To establish whether local concerns still 
exist in the light of the Executive Member’s 
decision

• To explore whether further improvements 
could be made to address the traffic issues

• To identify those measures or actions that 
could be taken to assist in the smooth 

• implementation of similar schemes in the city

• To understand the context of the Land 
Compensation Act 1973 in relation to this 
CCfA 

The Task Group gathered information and held an 
event to listen to the public's views.  

It became clear that despite prior consultation, the 
consequences of the alterations had not been 
foreseen. The traffic modelling used had not  
incorporated side streets and the increased use of 
residential streets by through traffic had not been 
predicted.

It was recognised, that as a consequence of 
the changes to the junction at Water End, 
traffic levels in Westminster Road and The 
Avenue had increased substantially. 

So, whilst cycle 
usage had 
increased, the 
changes to the 
junction had
caused an 
exceptional set of 
circumstances for 
local residents.

Residents in the side streets believed that a 
point closure would be the best solution, but 
the Task Group recognised that this alone 
would not solve the problems and could lead 
to increased congestion on the main highway.  

There were also geographic constraints at the 
junction making widening difficult. 

Page 129



Community Safety
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Introduction

Awaiting info 

Cllr Bowgett, Chair 

Committee’s Remit 

The Community Safety and Overview Committee 
reviews the performance, achievements and 
development of the following council service plan 
areas : 

• Safer City 
• Environmental Health & Trading Standards 
• Street Scene 
• Cleansing Services 
• Waste Collection Services 
• Waste Management Strategy (Client) 
• Building Cleaning Services 
• Highways Maintenance Services 
• Street Environment 
• Bereavement Services 
• Licensing & Regulation 
• Youth Offending Team 

It  also identifies aspects of the Council’s 
operation relating to delivery of the above 
services in need of development and/or review.   

Annual Work Programme 
At the beginning of the year, the Committee
received training on its new role of scrutinising 
crime & disorder issues affecting the city. 

It also received quarterly CYC finance and 
performance monitoring reports, and quarterly 
reports from the Safer York Partnership 
identifying issues specific to their remit for closer 
inspection, and resulting in a number of key 
reports on the following: 

• The Council’s Alleygating Policy 
• CYC’s Drug Action Team 

• The Re-structure of the Police Force in York 
During the year, the Committee were pleased to 
meet with the Executive Leader & Executive 
Member for 
Neighbourhood 
Services, and they
received a 
presentation by 
North Yorkshire 
Fire & Rescue 
Service on their 
role within the local 
Crime & Disorder 
Reduction Partnership (CDRP).   

Finally during 2009-10, the Committee also 
carried out the following scrutiny review . 
        
The Review of City of York Council’s 
Winter Maintenance Policy 

This subject proved to be very important to 
residents as York suffered the worst winter for a 
number of years, with a prolonged spell of snow 

Page 130



Councillor D Bowgett 
Chair of the Community Safety  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Committee Members 
Councillors Bowgett (Chair), Gillies (Vice-Chair),  
S Galloway, King, Orrell, Vassie, B Watson, 

“ It would be helpful if the Council could prioritise one really good 
route into town from N, E, S & W and give it really high priority ” 
Feedback from staff member at York Hospitals Foundation Trust  

Key Outcomes  
In times of severe weather: 

• up-to-date information on the gritting of  
‘main’ cycle access routes into the city
will be provided via the council’s website  
and in other ways, to allow cyclists to make 
an informed decision on whether or not to 
use their bicycle and which route to take 

• Based on an agreed criteria, a list of
secondary roads has been identified for  
gritting

In addition, it was recommended that a public 
information leaflet be produced containing  
information on (or pointers to) all the services 
residents may need to be able to function in 
times of severe weather or emergency
situations.

and ice in December 2009 and January 2010.   

The Committee chose to carry out a review of the 
council’s Winter Maintenance Policy after many 
ward councillors received complaints, particularly 
about the treating of footpaths throughout the city. 

They also received complaints about some roads 
and cycle paths which the public perceived had 
not been gritted despite the long period of bad 

The Committee considered carrying out a review 
of CCTV in York, as in recent times the use of 
closed circuit TV (CCTV) has become a key 
concern within communities, and has prompted 
many local authorities to focus on its associated 
benefits and problems.  

Since the introduction of 
new local government  
arrangements,
independent scrutiny 
reviews and investigations 
have been a popular way 
to address these 
concerns.

However, having been informed that a report on 
CCTV was scheduled to go to the Executive in 
Spring 2010 addressing the concerns raised, the 
Committee chose not to proceed with a review.  

Conclusion

Awaiting Info 

Cllr Bowgett 

C
O
R
P
O
R
A
T
E

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
Y

The review of CYCs Winter Maintenance 
Policy supported the council’s Corporate 
Strategy by aiming to provide an  
environment which allows workers and 
visitors to travel freely and safely around 
the city in times of severe weather,
thereby maintaining the city’s economy.  
This supports the council’s strategic aim 
to make the city safer and enabling it to 
thrive.

This has enabled it to 
scrutinise the provision of
services by other exter-
nal service providers 
such as North Yorkshire 
Police.

Other Issues Considered 
2009-10  was the first year this Committee took 
responsibility for the Council’s statutory
functions relating to the scrutiny of crime and
disorder matters (in line with Section 19 of the  
Police and Justice Act (2006).  

Page 131



Scrutinising Crime and Disorder
Issues In York 

Scrutinising the work of the local CDRP 

Every local authority is required to have an 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee that is 
responsible for scrutinising the decisions made 
and the actions taken by the local CDRP. 

In York this responsibility lies with the
Community Safety Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee.

The role of the committee is one of a ‘critical 
friend’ of the CDRP, i. e. they provide it with 
constructive challenges at a strategic level, rather 
than looking to find fault at an operational level.  
Its aim is to: 

• Enhance existing partnership arrangements 
• Create a clearer link between the partner 

agencies and the public on community safety. 
• Develop a clear structure for overseeing and 

reviewing the delivery of 
joint responses on 
community safety  

The scrutiny of crime and 
disorder issues is an important 
tool for community safety 
partners to work together to 
resolve crime and disorder 
problems, in a forum which is 
open to the public. It’s aim is to 
boost the public’s confidence 
that police and local authorities 
are acting on crime and anti-
social behaviour issues. 

The committee considers 
actions undertaken by the 
responsible authorities on the 
CDRP and reports or makes 
recommendations to either the 
local authority, or direct to one 
of the responsible partners. 

Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
(CDRPs) were created by the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 to develop and implement 
strategies to reduce crime and disorder.  They 
exist to ensure that a number of prescribed 
‘responsible authorities’ work together to jointly 
agree and deliver community safety  
priorities. These responsible authorities, who 
have a long history of working together and 
getting results, are: 

• The local authority 
• The police force 
• The police authority 
• The fire and rescue authority 
• The primary care trust 

Safer York Partnership 
In York, the CDRP is known as the Safer York 
Partnership.

In order to identify and deliver on the priorities 
that matter most to the local 
community, it is required to 
carry out a number
of main tasks, including: 

• Preparing an annual 
strategic assessment 
identifying the crime 
and community safety priorities in the area, 
through analysis of information provided by 
partner agencies and the community 

• Producing a partnership plan, laying out the 
approach for addressing those priorities 

• Undertaking community consultation and 
engagement on crime and disorder issues  

• Sharing information among the responsible 
authorities within the CDRP 

Community safety is not just an issue for the Police. Like every challenging outcome lo-
cal authorities and their partners care and deliver for their communities, it needs a wide 
range of people and organizations to be involved and contribute to addressing crime 
and it’s causes.  

Page 132



For more information about Overview & Scrutiny in York, or for more 
detailed information on any of the completed reviews outlined in this 
Annual Report, please contact one of the Scrutiny Team: 
Dawn Steel, Democratic Services Manager  
Tel: 01904 551030 
Email: dawn.steel@york.gov.uk

Melanie Carr, Scrutiny Officer 
Tel: 01904 552063 
Email: melanie.carr@york.gov.uk

Responsible for the following  
Overview & Scrutiny Committees: 
Effective Organisation 
Learning & Culture 
Community Safety 
Traffic Congestion 

Tracy Wallis, Scrutiny Officer 
Tel: 01904 551714 
Email: tracy.wallis@york.gov.uk

Responsible for the following  
Overview & Scrutiny Committees: 
Economic & City Development 
Health

The new Overview & Scrutiny Committees worked hard in 2009/10 to establish what 
they wanted to do and achieve and are planning to build upon their experiences over 
the next 12 months.  Some Committees will be taking forward commitments to  
looking at issues they identified in 2009/10.  In particular Scrutiny Management
Committee will oversee the work of a joint ad-hoc committee it established to look at 
'Safe Access & Travel to School'.  

From July 2010, all Committees will be setting their work programmes for the year 
ahead, identifying key areas they would like to look at in more detail.  Following on 
from that, they will meet with Executive Members and partners to learn about their 
plans.  Those discussions will shape further the direction of scrutiny over the year 
ahead.

As in 2009/10, the Scrutiny Committees will continue to build in capacity to deal with 
matters 'called in' by other Members for their consideration or referred to them by 
Ward Councillors under the, still relatively new, 'Councillor Call for Action  
requirements'. 

For the first time, scrutiny will be inviting local residents to suggest areas they think 
warrant the attention of scrutiny.  Also, a new corporate petitions scheme will be
introduced which may well result in some petitions being referred for further  
investigation to scrutiny.  

Finally, but by no means least, scrutiny will be reviewing its own processes to make 
sure it responds flexibly to local needs and priorities. 

Overview and Scrutiny
 - the next twelve months…...

Page 133



Page 134

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	
	2 Minutes
	4 Traffic Congestion Ad Hoc Scrutiny Committee - Revised Final Report
	Annex 1
	Annex A
	Annex B
	Annex C Final
	Annex C Matrix
	Annex D
	Annex E

	5 Annual Scrutiny Report 2009-10
	revised Annex A Annual Scrutiny Report


